CHROM. 21 198

REVIEW

APPLICATION OF LIQUID CRYSTALS IN CHROMATOGRAPHY^a

ZYGFRYD WITKIEWICZ

Institute of Chemistry, Military Technical Academy, 01 489 Warsaw 49 (Poland) (Received December 9th, 1988)

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	;7
2.	New liquid crystals useful in chromatography	8
	2.1. Polysiloxanes	9
	2.2. Polyacrylates	0
	2.3. Isothiocyanates	0
	2.4. Disc-like (discotic) liquid crystals	1
3.	Columns with liquid crystal stationary phases	2
	3.1. Conventional analytical columns	3
	3.2. Capillary columns	4
4.	Factors affecting the separation of components of mixtures on liquid crystal stationary phases 4	15
	4.1. Kind of mesophase of the liquid crystal	5
	4.2. Molecular structure of the liquid crystal and of the chromatographed substance	51
	4.3. Effect of the support	;4
5.	Practical applications of liquid crystal stationary phases	9
	5.1. Separation of isomers of benzene and naphthalene derivatives	9
	5.2. Separation of alkene and alkane isomers	1
	5.3. Separation of mixtures of benzene and aliphatic hydrocarbon derivatives containing	
	heteroatoms	2
	5.4. Separation of polynuclear hydrocarbons	3
6.	Applications of liquid crystals in liquid chromatography	5
	6.1. Column chromatography	5
	6.2. Thin-layer chromatography	7
7.	Final remarks	9
8.	Summary	0
No	ote added in proof	1
Re	ferences	1

1. INTRODUCTION

This review constitutes the second part of a survey of liquid crystalline stationary phases for gas chromatography, the first part of which dealt with the properties and applications of liquid crystals as stationary phases in gas chromatography¹. When the first part was written, it was not expected that it would have a continuation. In recent years, however, many new papers have been published on the application of liquid crystals in chromatography. Not only have studies been continued in those

^a This work is dedicated to Professor Hans Kelker who was the first to introduce liquid crystals in chromatography.

0021-9673/89/\$03.50 (C) 1989 Elsevier Science Publishers B.V.

countries and centres in which they were started earlier, but also research now is being undertaken elsewhere. Particularly interesting is the rapid development of studies on liquid crystal stationary phases in China.

Recent studies have concentrated on new analytical applications of liquid crystal stationary phases and the use of new liquid crystal phases, not only rod-like but also disc-like. Apart from the still most common applications of liquid crystals as stationary phases in gas chromatography, they are also finding application in supercritical fluid chromatography and liquid chromatography. In the latter instance, liquid crystals are not only useful as stationary phases in chromatographic columns but may also be used for visualizing thin-layer chromatograms.

In the recent years our knowledge of the properties of liquid crystal stationary phases has increased considerably, and so has the range of their practical, often routine, applications. In Poland, for instance, there are laboratories in which liquid crystals have been used for some time for the separation and determination of the isomers of polynuclear hydrocarbons. In addition, our knowledge of other possible applications of liquid crystals in chromatography and elsewhere has also expanded. For instance, the experience from chromatography has been utilized in piezoelectric detectors^{2–4}. It has been shown that a quartz resonator coated with a liquid crystal layer reacts in different ways to isomers of substances differing in molecular structure and detects them with varying sensitivity.

Research on liquid crystal has been developing very rapidly both as regards the synthesis of new substances and the knowledge of their properties and applications, as indicated in the recent years in general monographs and reviews⁵⁻¹² and in those devoted to chromatographic applications¹³⁻¹⁸. In one of the reviews the separation properties of cyclodextrins and liquid chrystals as stationary phases in gas chromatography are compared¹⁹. About 3.6% of recent publications concerned with gas chromatography are devoted to liquid crystal stationary phases²⁰.

In future research on liquid crystals as chromatographic materials the efforts of organic chemists synthesizing liquid crystals should be combined more closely with those of analysts, chromatographers, physical chemists and physicists studying the properties of liquid crystals. Such cooperation might contribute to a better knowledge of the relationships between the structure of the liquid crystal molecule and its separation properties, and hence to the development of new materials with the required, optimum features. The lack of such cooperation was clear at the 12th International Liquid Crystal Conference (Freiburg, 1988), where the application of liquid crystals in chromatography was not even mentioned²¹. However, several papers on the application of liquid crystals were presented at the 17th International Symposium on Chromatography (Vienna, 1988)²².

This review encompasses work that was published or became available after the first review was written¹. A few of these were, in fact, included in the first review at the last moment, but it was not possible at that time to give them more detailed consideration. The fundamental properties of liquid crystals are not discussed here as they were considered in the first review.

2. NEW LIQUID CRYSTALS USEFUL IN CHROMATOGRAPHY

The number of new liquid crystals synthesized is very large but most of them are

designed for use in displays, although some of them may be applied succesfully in chromatography²³. So far, however, only a small number of the known liquid crystals have been used in this field.

In recent years a range of liquid crystal polymers have been obtained²⁴. Among them, siloxane polymers are gaining particular significance in gas chromatography. Many of the latter have been synthesized intentionally for that purpose.

2.1. Polysiloxanes

Siloxane polymers are among the best known stationary phases for gas chromatography^{25–27}, and the production of liquid crystal siloxane polymers is a logical step in the development of liquid crystal stationary phases and of stationary phases in general. Today several kinds of liquid crystal siloxane polymers are known. Most often they are obtained by adding to the siloxane polymer backbone mesomorphic groups that impart liquid crystal properties to the polymer. Such groups are bonded to the backbone by means of flexible aliphatic chains (spacers). However, mesomorphic compounds when bonded to the backbone do not always yield a liquid crystal polymer, and it is also possible that a liquid crystal is obtained after nonmesomorphic groups are bonded to the siloxane backbone. The properties of the liquid crystal siloxane polymer are influenced by the length of the polysiloxane chain, the number of the mesomorphic substituents, the kind of mesomorphic group and the length of the spacer bonding the mesomorphic groups with the backbone²⁸. Alkane or alkene chains are used as spacers²⁹.

When synthesizing liquid crystal polymers from polymethylsiloxanes it was found that if the initial polymers used have different molecular weights but the mesomorphic compounds are the same, the resulting liquid crystal polymers have different melting points but the same mesophase to isotropic liquid transition temperature³⁰. The phase transition temperatures depend on the number of methyl groups bonded to the siloxane backbone; the greater the number of these groups, the lower is the nematic-isotropic liquid transition point. It is expected that by selecting a suitable length of the siloxane backbone, mesomorphic groups, spacers and numbers of nonmesomorphic groups, it will be possible to obtain polysiloxanes with melting points close to ambient temperature and clearing points above 300°C.

Biphenylcarboxylic esters of polysiloxanes constitute a large group of liquid crystal polymers^{29,31,32} and several procedures for their synthesis for chromatographic applications have been described^{28,30–32}. Not only nematic but also smecticnematic and smectic polymers are suitable as stationary phases^{29,32,33}. Polymers with the cholesteric mesophase are also known²⁹, although to a much smaller extent.

Polymers with mesogenic groups in the side-chains are usually non-crystallizing. The lower limit of their liquid crystal state is the glassy to mesophase transition temperature above which a segment mobility appears owing to the lability of the particular fragments of the macromolecule. In the temperature range from the glassy to mesophase transition temperature to the clearing point the polymer is in the liquid crystal state. In the temperature range of the mesophase one can distinguish the flow temperature, below which the polymer is an elastomer, in which state it is unsuitable as a stationary phase. The non-crystallizing polymers do not freeze on cooling but at a characteristic temperature (for each of them) they become glassy, preserving their mesophase structure in the course of further cooling. The liquid crystal polymers usually reveal a wider range of the mesophase than the corresponding monomeric liquid crystals.

The polymers have a high thermal resistance and show good behaviour in the column; further improvement in their properties is possible by cross-linking in the column²⁸. Azo-*tert*.-butane has been succesfully used as the cross-linking agent. The cross-linked stationary phases are more stable, but the efficiency of the columns decreases by as much as 30%.

Some formulae of liquid crystal polysiloxanes are given in Fig. 1 as examples.

Among the siloxane polymers, attention should be drawn to the phthalocyanine derivatives of siloxane polymers that have not so far been tested in gas chromatography³⁴. These compounds show exceptionally high chemical and thermal stability, a wide range of the mesophase and very low viscosity in some temperature ranges, which makes it probable that they will make excellent stationary phases.

2.2. Polyacrylates

These polymers are obtained from the corresponding acrylates by radical polymerization with the use of 2,2'-azoisobutyronitrile (AIBN) as initiator³⁵. The scheme of this reaction is shown in Fig. 2.

From monomeric acrylates, which provide smectic and nematic mesophases, liquid crystal polymers are obtained with only the nematic phase, but wider and occurring at higher temperatures. The mesophase range of some of these polymers exceeds 200°C.

2.3. Isothiocyanates

The opinion seems to prevail that liquid polymers are, in general, better stationary phases than are monomeric liquid crystals. In addition to the advantages already mentioned, the better arrangement of the liquid crystal polymer molecules on the surface of the capillary column walls compared with monomeric liquid crystals is emphasized. However, this is not so in every instance, and the practical importance of some monomers is still significant, *e.g.*, azo- and azoxyarylethanes³⁶.

Fig. 1. Structure of liquid crystalline polysiloxanes.



Fig. 2. Scheme of synthesis and structure of polyacrylates³⁵.

Great hopes can be set on the recently obtained liquid crystals belonging to the isothiocyanate group^{37,38}. Some compounds belonging to this group reveal very wide ranges of the mesophase, comparable to those of the polymers. These compounds are chemically and thermally stable, have low viscosities and show good behaviour in capillary columns. Their advantage is that they are obtained more easily than the siloxane polymers. It can therefore be expected that some monomeric liquid crystal stationary phases will be competetive with polymeric liquid crystals.

Fig. 3 shows the formulae of several liquid crystal isothiocyanates.

2.4. Disc-like (discotic) liquid crystals

The study of disc-like liquid crystals as stationary phases is very interesting not only from the theoretical point of view but also increasingly for purely practical reasons. These liquid crystals have found application in chromatography only recently, although they have been known since 1977³⁹. Today it is known that the rod-like structure of the molecule is not a necessary condition for a compound to be a liquid crystal; the molecule may be flat or disc-shaped¹². Disc-like liquid crystals are known

$$C_{6}H_{13} - \bigcirc -CH_{2}CH_{2} - \bigcirc -NCS$$
K 58 N 132 J

$$C_{6}H_{13} - \bigcirc \bigcirc -CH_{2}CH_{2} - \bigcirc -NCS$$
K 55,8 S 98,5 N 130 J

$$C_{5}H_{11} - \bigcirc \bigcirc -CH_{2}CH_{2} - \bigcirc -NCS$$
K 135 S 163 N 280 J

$$C_{6}H_{13} - \bigcirc -CH = CH - \bigcirc -NCS$$
K 130 S 199 N 281,5 J

$$C_{6}H_{13} - \bigcirc -CH_{2}CH_{2} - \bigcirc -NCS$$
K 86 N 260 J

$$C_{6}H_{13} - \bigcirc -CH_{2}CH_{2} - \bigcirc -NCS$$
K 86 N 260 J

$$C_{6}H_{13} - \bigcirc -CH_{2}CH_{2} - \bigcirc -NCS$$
K 128,5 N 248 J

Fig. 3. Formulae and temperatures of phase transitions of liquid crystalline isothiocyanates.

which are derivatives of benzene^{40,41}, triphenylene^{42,43}, truxene^{44,45}, rufigallol^{46,47}, tetraphenylpyrylidenepyran and tetraphenylpyrylidenethiopyran^{48,49}, naphtalene⁵⁰, phthalocyanines^{51,52} and other compounds^{53,54}. Polymeric disc-like liquid crystals have been reported⁵⁵. The disc-like liquid crystals reveal ranges of the mesophase narrower by several tens of degrees than those of the rod-like type. The discotic liquid crystals studied so far as stationary phases have very narrow ranges of the mesophase^{56,57}.

Fig. 4 shows a general scheme of molecules of discotic liquid crystals and the structures of the mesophase. The structure may be nematic, twisted nematic (cholesteric) or columnar^{58–60}. The columnar structure, which may be considered as corresponding to the smectic structure, has several modifications.

A large number of known liquid crystals, their characteristic molecular structures and their fundamental properties have been surveyed by Demus and Zaschke⁶¹.

3. COLUMNS WITH LIQUID CRYSTAL STATIONARY PHASES

In recent years there has been a strong trend toward the use of liquid crystals in capillary columns. This is in accordance with the general growth in importance and increasing application of capillary columns in gas chromatography^{62–65}. An additional reason for the spread of capillary columns is that the efficiency of normal analytical columns filled with liquid crystals is usually lower than that of columns filled with conventional stationary phases. This lower efficiency is due to the high viscosity of the liquid crystal stationary phases. To improve the efficiency of columns filled with liquid crystals, the latter are mixed with conventional isotropic stationary



Fig. 4. Example of formulae and structures of the disc-like liquid crystal mesophase: (a) nematic; (b) cholesteric; (c) columnar.

phases, *e.g.*, SE-30, SE-52, SE-54 or OV- 17^{66-69} . Mixing of two liquid crystal stationary phases does not lead to a notable improvement of the column efficiency, which remains intermediate between the values obtained for the individual components of the mixture⁷⁰.

When the liquid crystal is deposited in a capillary column, the efficiency of the system becomes sufficiently high to allow, very good separations of complex mixtures to be achieved, considering the high selectivity of the liquid crystal stationary phases. The high selectivity of liquid crystals even makes it possible to use much shorter columns than those filled with conventional stationary phases. This is becoming easier because with liquid crystals of low viscosity, which are becoming increasingly available, the efficiency of the columns obtained is comparable to that of columns filled with conventional stationary phases.

However, despite this general trend towards capillary columns, in many instances liquid crystals continue to be used in conventional analytical columns.

3.1. Conventional analytical columns

In most instances Chromosorbs or Chromatons, usually silanized or acid washed, have been used as supports. Less frequently silica gels, *e.g.*, Silochrom 80^{71} , or glass beads^{72,73} were applied. The liquid crystals (low or medium temperature) are applied to the conventional supports usually in amounts of 10–15% and seldom more than 20%, *e.g.*, 24.5%⁷⁴. High-temperature liquid crystal stationary phases are applied to the conventional supports in an amount of 5%. This is related to the volatility of these substances; if the high-temperature phases, applied at about 300°C, were used in larger amounts bleeding of the phase from the columns might render the analysis impossible. This is particularly important when the substances to be analysed are presented in the sample in trace amounts, *e.g.*, in the analysis of polycyclic hydrocarbons. In the analysis of these hydrocarbons the liquid crystal phases may be deposited on glass beads^{72,73}, which were sometimes pretreated with sodium dodecylbenzene-sulphonate⁷². The amount of the stationary phase (*e.g.*, BMBT) deposited on the beads was small (up to 0.025%)⁷³.

In most instances the liquid crystals are deposited on the supports from solutions in commonly used volatile solvents, but also in formic acid⁷⁵. If active supports of high surface area and high adsorption potential such as Silochrom 80 are used, a special procedure for applying the liquid crystal is recommended, in which a few percent (*e.g.*, 6%) of the liquid crystal is deposited several times from solutions of increasing concentration⁷¹. This concentration should be adjusted depending on the properties of the adsorbent used as the support. The columns with a filling prepared in this way have a higher efficiencies than those with the filling prepared in the conventional manner. In addition, the efficiency may be higher at temperatures corresponding to the solid state than at those of the smectic or nematic. With columns with fillings prepared by the multi-step procedure the retention times of the chromatographed hydrocarbons (heptane, toluene) are shorter and the peaks are narrower and more symmetrical than with columns with fillings prepared in a one-step operation.

Some high-molecular-weight, high-temperature liquid crystals are poorly soluble and were deposited on the supports from suspensions in a solvent. Sometimes also the powdered stationary phase was mixed with the support, *e.g.*, for 48 h^{76,77}. During conditioning of the column (at temperatures above the melting point) the liquid

crystal was distributed on the surface of the support, and the properties of the column did not differ from those with a filling prepared by deposition of the liquid crystal from a real solution.

By applying various liquid crystals in different systems, the optimum heights of the columns equivalent to a theoretical plate obtained were, *e.g.*, 0.6–1.8 mm^{78,79}. When the columns were filled with a mixture of a liquid crystal and a conventional isotropic phase (*e.g.*, BBBT + SE-30), their efficiency depended on the quantitative composition of the mixture and on the column preparation procedure applied⁶⁶. The height equivalent to a theoretical plate then varied, in various columns, from 0.9 to 1.6 mm.

The columns used had similar diameters (2-4 mm) and lengths (up to several metres) to those with conventional stationary phases. Sometimes, however, they were much shorter, *e.g.*, 0.7 m^{72} .

3.2. Capillary columns

Capillary columns make it possible to combine the high efficiency of such columns with the high selectivity of liquid crystals. The wide use in chromatographic practice of capillary columns filled with liquid crystals is envisaged, although it is realized that the general requirements regarding the reproducibility, thermal stability and wettability of the walls is greater with capillary columns than packed columns⁸⁰.

Liquid crystal stationary phases are deposited on the capillary walls from solutions by the generally used dynamic or static methods in layers $0.1-0.3 \ \mu m$ thick^{64,65}. When applying the liquid crystals by the dynamic method, $20\%^{81}$ or $10\%^{82}$ solutions were used, and in the static method less concentrated solutions, *e.g.*, $0.25\%^{83}$.

The superdynamic method of Berezkin and Korolev⁶² developed for conventional phases in which stationary phases are deposited on capillary walls, might be successful with liquid crystal phases also. This method makes it possible to obtain columns with good reproducibility and properties. The columns have 3500-5500 theoretical plates per metre and capacity factors of 2.2–2.4.

If the liquid crystal is poorly soluble but easy to produce, then its synthesis is conducted directly *in situ*. This method was applied, for instance, with liquid crystal Schiff bases (BPhBT)⁸⁴. The solutions of the substrates, in this instance of an aldehyde and an amine, were mixed in suitable proportions and the mixture was introduced into the column, where it was heated to the required temperature at which the reaction took place. The resulting product was deposited on the column walls, whereas the unreacted substrates and solvent were removed from the column.

The efficiency of the column and its separation ability depend on the kind of liquid crystal used, its molecular structure and the related polarity, and also on the way in which the capillary walls have been pretreated and on the amount of the liquid crystal deposited on their surface^{85–88}. The walls of glass columns were preliminary etched with hydrogen chloride and coated with barium carbonate. Often additional deactivation was achieved by applying a Carbowax layer, which improved the column efficiency. When liquid crystals obtained from azo or azoxy compounds were deposited on the walls of columns deactivated with Carbowax, their efficiency exceeded 3000 theoretical plates per metre and their stability was higher. The selectivities of the columns treated and untreated with Carbowax were, however, similar.⁸⁵

Matišova et al.87 studied the dependence of the properties of a liquid crystal

stationary phase on the thickness of the film on the column walls. They measured the phase transition temperatures of the liquid crystals, the column capacity factors, relative retentions and retention indices of the chromatographed substances for columns only etched with gaseous hydrogen chloride for 2 h at 330°C and for columns additionally deactivated with Carbowax 20M. The column efficiency depended considerably on the kind of reagent used for deactivating the column walls. Good columns, with 900–1000 theoretical plates per metre (as measured for anthracene at 230°C), were obtained by depositing BBBT on column walls deactivated with triphenylsilylamine⁸⁹. When diphenyltetramethyldisilazane was used, the number of theoretical plates reduced to 500 per metre.

The column efficiency also depends on the phase in which the liquid crystal is used. For instance, for a brass column at temperatures corresponding to the mesophase and an isotropic liquid, 900-1300 theoretical plates per metre were obtained. whereas in the temperature range of the solid, the number of theoretical plates was only 100-150 per metre⁸¹.

The column efficiency is strongly affected by the composition of the deposited mixed phase⁶⁸. An increase in the proportion of the liquid crystal (BBBT) in the common isotropic phase (SE-52) lowered the column efficiency (in terms of the number of theoretical plates per metre) as follows: SE-52, 3381; BBBT – SE-52 (20:80), 1710; and BBBT – SE-52 (50:50), 858. When 20% of BMBT or 20% of BMxBT was added to SE-52, the column efficiency was 1600 or 1100 theoretical plates per metre, respectively.

Mainly glass capillary columns are used, although recently fused-silica columns have also been applied. Metal columns (steel, copper or brass)^{81,82,90,91} are rarely used. The length of the columns varied for 4 m⁸¹ to about 100 m.

When considering the choice of a chromatographic column, it should be realized that the separation of the components of a mixture depends much more on the kind of mesophase used and its molecular structure and range than on the kind and length of the column. Examples of the characteristics of capillary columns filled with liquid crystal stationary phases are given in Table 1.

4. FACTORS AFFECTING THE SEPARATION OF COMPONENTS OF MIXTURES ON LIQUID CRYSTAL STATIONARY PHASES

4.1. Kind of mesophase of the liquid crystal

In recent years, the mechanisms of chromatographic separations on liquid crystal stationary phases have seldom been studied, mainly because the general theoretical principles of such separations are known. However, it is not easy to describe the phenomena that occur at the molecular level and this aspect has not yet been completely elucidated. This task was undertaken and largely solved by Martire¹⁰², who gave an exhaustive treatment of the problems connected with the mechanisms of the separation of substances of different molecular shape on liquid crystal stationary phases with various molecular structures. He proposed a theory based on the crystal lattice model in which statistical mechanics are utilized. Account was taken of molecules of the chromatographed substances of various shapes: thin and thick rods, plates, grains and semi-flexible chains. The liquid crystals considered were those whose molecular structure makes them low- or high-temperature types. These were

Liquid crystal stationary phase	Temperatures of phase transitions ^a (°C)	Column (m×mm I.D.)	Method of filling, solution concentration (%)	Wall surface treatment	Test substance	Temperature of column testing (°C)	Number of theoretical plates (N)	Capacity factor of test substance (K)	Ref.
MEPSIL IVB	C139N319I	Glass, 15×0.25	Static, 1.6 mg/cm ³	20% HCI, HMDS	Chrysene	230	2450/m		30
Polysiloxane	C118S300I	Fused silica 10×0.32	Static	N ₂ at 250°C, 2h			4000/m	15	31
PMMS	C70N300I	Fused silica 19 × 0.32	Static, 0.3		Triphenylene	220	2200/m		67
CABHC	C119N232I	Glass, 24 × 0.26	Static	BaCO ₃ , Carbowax			75 000		85
PBO	C63N94I	Glass, 62 × 0.25	Dynamic, 2.5	HCl, N ₂ , 160°C	trans-2-Tetrade- cene	74	180 000 (160 000 eff.)	16.2	86
BBBT	C188N303I	Glass, 10 × 0.22	Static 2 me/cm ³		Anthracene	230	900-1000/m		68
MEAB	C95.8N148I	Glass, 23 × 0.25	5		3-Phenyltridecane	140	60 000 (54 000 eff.)	17.4	92
MEAB	C95.8N148I	$Glass, 20 \times 0.25$	Dynamic	HCl(g), N ₂ 150°C	trans-2-Tridecene	95	230 000 (170 000 eff.)	6.2	93

EXAMPLES OF CHARACTERISTICS OF CAPILLARY COLUMNS FILLED WITH LIQUID CRYSTAL STATIONARY PHASES

TABLE I

Z. WITKIEWICZ

MEAB	C95.8N148I	Glass,	Dynamic, 3				215 000	5	94
		80×0.25							
MEAB	C95.8N1481	Glass,	Dynamic, 5				130 000	5	94
		63×0.25							
EBO	C97N112I	Glass	Dynamic, 5			50	106 000	2,1	95
EBO	C97N112I	Glass	Dynamic, 5			40	25 000	3,2	95
PBO	C63N94I	Glass,							
		100×0.25	Dynamic	HCI, 360°C			350 000	5	96
PBO	C63N94I	Glass,	Dynamic		I-Undecene	56	430 000	10.2	76
		100×0.25					(360 000 eff.)		
PBO	C63N94I	Glass,			n-Nonane	40	290 000	3.3	98
		100×0.25					(170 000 eff.)		
MEPSIL-		Glass,	Static		benz[a]anthracen	e 240	3210/m		66
SE-30		60×0.25							
MEPSIL		Glass,	Static		Chrysene	230	2450/m		66
		60×0.25							
HCFITFE	C58N132I	Glass,	Static	18% HCl, BaCO ₃ ,		61	700/m real		100
		15.5×0.3		Carbowax					
HBITFE	C55.8S98.5-	Glass,	Static	18 % HCl, 150°C,		100.5	1700/m real		100
	N1301	20×0.3		BaCO,					
ITFPCBE	C135S163N-	Glass,	Static	18% HCl, BaCO ₃ ,		165	700/m real		101
	280I	12.5×0.3		Carbowax					

^{*a*} C = Crystal; S = smectic; N = nematic; I = isotropic liquid.

APPLICATION OF LIQUID CRYSTALS IN CHROMATOGRAPHY

molecules with a rigid, rod-like core with semi-flexible side-groups. The effect of packing, connected with the molecular structure of the chromatographed substance, was considered to be an important element of the interactions.

The theory of separations on nematic liquid crystals is developed best, as it is on these that the best chromatographic separations are obtained. The theory of separation on smectics is much poorer, although there are more and more reports regarding the good chromatographic properties of some of them^{28,29,31, 103}. In general it is assumed that smectics with a low degree of ordering of the mesophase (S_A . S_B) have better separation properties than those with a high degree of ordering. This problem requires more exhaustive studies, however.

The recent discovery of liquid crystals with re-entrant phases has created new possibilities for studying the relationship between the effectiveness of separation and other properties of liquid crystal stationary phases (*e.g.*, the column efficiency and the capacity ratio) depending on the kind of mesophase.

The re-entrant phases occur as a result of the effect of an anomalous sequence of phases shown by some liquid crystals. In such a case the nematic, cholesteric, smectic A and smectic C phases may appear twice in different temperature ranges. As a result, the same kind of phase (*e.g.*, a nematic) will appear at temperatures both higher and lower than another phase (*e.g.*, a smectic A). The phase appearing at the lower temperature is called the re-entrant phase. This phenomenon is related to the association of the liquid crystal molecules with the cyano terminal group and an alkyl or alkoxy group with at least eight carbon atoms. Most frequently the following sequence of phases with the re-entrant phase is observed: NS_AN_{re} or $NS_AN_{re}S_{Are}$ (where N = nematic; S_A = smectic A; N_{re} = nematic re-entrant; S_{Are} = smectic A re-entrant). However, instances are also known where only the low-temperature N_{re} phase occurs without the nematic phase at the higher temperature; in this event the following sequence of phases is observed: S_AN_{re} , $S_AS_CN_{re}$, $S_AS_CN_{re}S_{Cre}$ or $S_AN_{re}S_C^{104,105}$. Re-entrant mesophases are observed not only in rod-like but also in disc-like liquid crystals¹⁰⁶.

The use of re-entrant phases in chromatography has so far been little studied^{105,107-109}. Liquid crystals with a re-entrant phase can be used in a wide temperature range if they reveal a linear relationship between retention and transition temperature from one kind of phase to the other. An example of such a liquid crystal is 4-(4-nonyloxybenzoyloxy)-4'-cyanobenzene, which shows N, S_c and also N_{re} and S_{Cre} phases. This liquid crystal has a mesophase range of 67–220°C and when supercooled to 55°C preserves the S_{Cre} phase¹⁰⁸ (see Fig. 5). A similar, linear relationship between retention and temperature was observed¹⁰⁹ at the S_A-N_{re} phase transition. The observed¹⁰⁷ relationship log $V_{\rm R} = f(t)$ was, however, non-linear and connected with phase transition.

Some new interesting findings show that liquid crystal stationary phases can be used beyond the range of the true mesophase, *i.e.*, in the form of a solid, supercooled below the melting point, and in the form of an isotropic liquid, above the clearing point. Several examples are known of the use of liquid crystals in the solid state^{71,110-112}. Karabanov *et al.*¹¹⁰ described the determination of impurities in diethyl sulphide, which were separated much better on the solid than on the mesophase. The possibilities and limitations of using liquid crystal stationary phases in the solid state and in the mesophase have been described by Dmitreva and Gabitova¹¹¹.



Fig. 5. Relationship between log (retention volume) and temperature for (1) phenanthrene, (2) *m*-chloro-acetophenone, (3) *p*-dibromobenzene and (4) *o*-xylene¹⁰⁸.

In most instances the separations carried out on a solid stationary phase are much poorer than those conducted in the mesophase range and sometimes even poorer than those in which the isotropic liquid is used. For instance, the separation of isomers of trimethylbenzene on 4-butanoyloxy-4'-nitroazoxybenzene deposited in an amount of 20% on Chromaton N AW was possible with both the mesophase and the isotropic liquid but not on this stationary phase in the solid state¹¹³. The isotropic liquid is only seldom used, chiefly in those instances when the clearing point is not very high and the stationary phase reveals good thermal stability in the column. Industrial mixtures of methyl esters of C_8-C_{18} fatty acids were separated on methoxyethoxyazoxybenzene in short capillary columns at temperatures corresponding to the isotropic liquid⁸¹.

In isothermal chromatography we usually utilize the initial temperature range

Z. WITKIEWICZ





of the mesophase (above the melting point). The whole mesophase range or a large part of it is used when the temperature is programmed. Often also use is made of the mesophase supercooling range in which the ordering of the liquid crystal structure is greater than that in the true mesophase^{76,79,87,93,96,114,115}. The supercooling may be very stable. For instance, after 12 months of mesophase supercooling at ambient temperature and 24 h at 0°C, the separations of mixtures were no worse than directly after supercooling⁷⁶.

The supercooling of the liquid crystal and the stability of the supercooled state are affected by, among other things, the molecular structure of the liquid crystal and also by the presence of lateral substituents^{76,79,114,115}. The stability of the supercooled state is improved by the presence of halogen substituents.

Liquid crystal siloxane polymers are also liable to supercooling³⁰. The relative retentions, α , of the chromatographed substances increase with supercooling and the resolution, R_s , achieves a certain optimum value (see Fig. 6). It is assumed that the corresponding temperature is the lowest point at which the stationary phase preserves its practical usefulness.

The possibility that a liquid crystal is supercooled depends on the thickness of its layer. The supercooled state is more stable when the liquid crystal film on the



Fig. 7. Variation of the relative retention of *p*- and *m*-xylene $(\alpha_{p/m})$ on 4-*n*-pentylacetophenone (O-4-npentyloxybenzoyl oxime) (PBO) on heating the column (previously conditioned at ambient temperature) to the isotropic liquid temperature (a) and successive cooling to 30°C (b); 1b, cooling from the isotropic liquid (122.5°C); 2b, cooling from the mesophase (70°C).

capillary column wall is thicker⁸⁷. If that film is thin (less than 40 nm), supercooling does not take place.

It has been found that the selectivity of a liquid crystal stationary phase in the supercooled state may depend on whether the cooling is started from the mesophase or from the isotropic liquid. It is more advantageous when the isotropic liquid is subjected to supercooling (see Fig. 7)⁹⁶.

Another method of chromatography on liquid crystals below their melting point is to use mixed phases. The separations on mixed phases are usually better than those on the pure components of the mixtures^{70,79,116,117}. An important, if not the most important, reason is that mixtures, especially eutectic ones, have lower melting points and probably a greater ordering of the mesophase^{118–121}, which leads to a better selectivity of such mixtures at temperatures lower than those which can be used with the single phases. This has been shown, for instance, for binary and ternary liquid crystal stationary phases^{70,122}. It is possible to predict the retention of the substances chromatographed on mixtures of liquid crystals if we know their retentions on the individual components. This relates both to liquid crystal–liquid crystal¹²³ and liquid crystal–isotropic stationary phase¹²⁴ mixtures.

In general it may be ascertained that the chromatographic separation proceeds according to different mechanisms at different temperatures corresponding to different states of the phases. Thus, by a skilful choice of the column temperature, one can obtain good separations of the components of different mixtures⁷⁴.

4.2. Molecular structure of the liquid crystal and of the chromatographed substance

A knowledge of intermolecular reactions between the liquid crystals and the chromatographed substances is important for the understanding of the phenomena taking place in the chromatographic column. The structure of the molecules and their polarity and polarizability affect, among other things, the solubility of the chromatographed substances in the liquid crystal¹²⁵. In the course of dissolution complexes may be formed¹²⁶. Many studies have dealt with the solubilities of non-mesogenic substances in liquid crystals^{127–129} but they rarely refer directly to chromatography^{122,130–134}.

Quite recently an important paper was published in this field¹³⁵, concerning the thermodynamic properties of 22 solutes at infinite dilution in the smectic, nematic and isotropic mesophases of 4,4'-bis(heptyloxy)azoxybenzene. The thermodynamic properties were discussed in relation to the solute-solvent (liquid crystal) interactions as conditioned by the degree of order in the liquid crystal.

The process of dissolution dominates in the column during chromatography on a liquid crystal. However, as liquid crystals are mostly phases of medium polarity, the mechanism of the retention of the substances chromatographed on them is usually a combination being accompanied by adsorption. Nevertheless, the contribution of adsorption to the total retention is usually much smaller than that of dissolution.

Studies on the dissolution of chromatographed substances in N-(4-hexyloxybenzylidene)-4'-toluidine have led to the conclusion that the selectivity of the liquid crystal stationary phase is determined by the structure of the liquid crystal molecule influencing the creation of specific intermolecular reactions with the chromatographed substance and by the ordering of the mesophase¹³⁶. The effect of the molecular structure of twelve liquid crystals based on azo and azoxy compounds on their selectivity and polarity and the efficiency of conventional analytical columns in which these liquid crystals were deposited was studied by Szulc and Witkiewicz⁷⁹.

The relationship was studied between the molecular structure and the retention of the test substance for a set of nine other liquid crystals (4-alkoxycarbonyl-4'nitroazoxybenzenes)¹³⁷. In general, azoxybenzenes have better separation properties than azobenzenes^{78,96}, and among azoxybenzenes those which have different terminal substituents are more selective than those with the same substituents^{94,96}. The inferior selectivity of the azo compounds probably occurs because they are planar and have a more compact structure into which the chromatographed substances penetrate only with difficulty.

The properties of the liquid crystal stationary phases depend both on the structure of the main chain of the molecule and on the terminal substituents which strongly affect the polarity of the molecules^{138–140}. However, an equally important or even greater effect on the chromatographic properties of liquid crystals is exerted by the lateral substituents present in the molecule^{76,79,114,115,139,140–144}. These substituents not only affect the intermolecular reactions between the liquid crystal and the chromatographed substance but also the liquid crystal – liquid crystal reactions. The lateral substituents also affect the selectivity of the liquid crystal owing to the changes they produce in the distance between its molecules¹⁴⁰. This relates not only to monomers but also to polymers¹⁴⁵.

The direct quantitative correlation between the retention of the chromatographed substances and their molecular structure has been considered in several studies^{78,146,147}. It is generally assumed that the ratio of the length to the smallest transverse dimension of the molecule, l/b (shape factor), is a decisive quantity for the retention of chromatographed substances on liquid crystal stationary phases. However, Suprynowicz *et al.*¹⁴⁶ chromatographed dimethylnaphthalenes on 4-ethyl-4'-(*p*methylbenzoyloxy)azobenzene and on the basis of the results called into question the truth of this opinion. They suggested that the retention of dimethylnaphthalene isomers is directly related to the geometry of arrangement of the methyl groups in the molecule. This provoked polemics with Lamparczyk *et al.*^{148,149}.

Considering the shape-factor of twelve monomethylbenz[a]anthracenes and their separation on OV-17 stationary phase, Lamparczyk¹⁴⁷ predicted their retention and separation on BBBT and BABT liquid crystals.

The chromatography of olefinic hydrocarbons (pheromones) on liquid crystal derivatives of cholesteryl cinnamate has shown that the separation of geometric isomers of these compounds is affected either positively or negatively depending on the position of the multiple bond in the pheromone molecule¹⁵⁰.

The factors affecting the retention of polynuclear hydrocarbons and their weakly polar analogues containing sulphur in the molecule on a smectic siloxane polymer were studied³³. In addition to the vapour pressure and volatility, the molecular structure of the chromatographed substances considerably affected the retention. The l/bratio had a greater effect on the retention than other shape factors of the molecule, and this effect was more pronounced with a smectic than a nematic, the selectivity of the former being better. The shape of the molecule was, however, sufficiently important to affect the retention as determined from the l/b ratio.

The mutual effect of the molecular structures of the liquid crystal and the chromatographed substance was ascertained when determining the gas hold-up time

from the non-adjusted retention times of *n*-alkanes and methyl esters of fatty $acids^{151}$. Methyl esters of mono- and bicyclic acids were chromatographed on the smectic and nematic phases of a high-temperature liquid crystal and the dependence of their retention on the molecular structure was studied. It was found that the selectivity is greatest at temperatures corresponding to the nematic range⁷⁵.

Little information is available on the mechanism of the separation ability of discotic liquid crystal stationary phases^{56,57}. The existing information concerns only liquid crystal hexasubstituted triphenylene and benzene derivatives. A better knowledge and the generalization of the properties of this group of stationary phases require further studies of the already tested and other discotic liquid crystals.

The general principles underlying the interaction of the ordered structure of disc-like liquid crystals with molecules of chromatographed substances are the same as for rod-like liquid crystals. The molecular structure of discotic liquid crystals and their ordered structure are, however, the cause of the retention times of chromatographed substances whose molecules have an oblong shape on these liquid crystals being shorter than those of compounds with a compact molecular structure (cyclicdiscotic). Such disc-like molecules are retained longer by the discotic liquid crystal stationary phase the flatter they are. The conclusions drawn for rod-like liquid crystals regarding good fitting, strong interaction with and easy penetration of such molecules into the ordered structure of the mesophase remain true for disc-like liquid crystals. The effect of planarity is probably even greater with discotic liquid crystal stationary phases. This has been shown for cyclohexane, cyclohexene and benzene and also for other compounds. Cyclooctatetraene (b.p. 142°C) is eluted after cyclooctane (b.p. 148.5°C), whose molecules are less flat. The importance of the planarity of the molecule is seen from the fact that the retention of cyclooctatetraene is almost the same as that of cyclooctanone (b.p. 200°C).

The separations of xylene isomers obtained on disc-like liquid crystal stationary phases are not as good as those obtained on rod-like phases. Even the order of elution is not changed with respect to conventional phases⁵⁶. However, something is unclear here, as Goozner and Labes¹⁵² reported that the solubilities of xylene isomers in mixtures of disc-like liquid crystals vary considerably. It is improbable that it will be possible to explain these differences only by the effect of the support.

Compounds with a linear structure of the molecule dissolve better than cyclic compounds in discotic liquid crystals. This has been shown for *n*-nonane and cyclooctane, which have similar boiling points (151 and 148°C, respectively) but very different retention times, cyclooctane being eluted second. If the chromatographed molecules do not have a disc shape (*e.g.*, *m*- and *p*-xylene isomers), the differences in their structure are immaterial and the boiling points are decisive for the order of their elution.

The ability of disc-like liquid crystal stationary phases to separate geometric isomers deserves attention. The separation of *cis*- and *trans*-decalin on a triphenylene derivative liquid crystal is illustrated in Fig. 8. The separation shown is very good and was obtained in a much shorter time than that on cyclodextrin as the stationary phase^{56,153}.

The relationship between the molecular structure of the chromatographed substances and their retention has been widely studied also with conventional stationary phases. Some results and conclusions from these studies may be applicable to liquid crystal stationary phases^{154,155}.



Fig. 8. Comparison of separation of a mixture of (1) *trans*-decalin, (2) *cis*-decalin, (3) tetralin, (4) naphthalene and (5) diphenyl. (a) Glass column (2 m × 4 mm I.D.) packed with 0.10 mol-% of β -cyclodextrin in formamide solution deposited on Celite; column temperature 70°C¹⁵³; (b) glass column (2.1 m × 4 mm I.D.) packed with 10% of triphenylene hexa-4-octylbenzoate deposited on Chromosorb W AW; column temperature 198°C⁵⁶.

4.3. Effect of the support

Although great attention has been paid to the practical applications of liquid crystal stationary phases, relatively little concern has been devoted recently to fundamental studies of the interactions of the liquid crystals with the surface of the support. Such studies, however, will improve our knowledge of the properties of liquid crystal stationary phases and have not been totally abandoned, although sometimes they did not have a direct relation with gas chromatography¹⁵⁶.

The effect of the surface of the substrate on which the liquid crystal is deposited in the chromatographic column is rarely accounted for in analytical practice. This is also the case with other stationary phases. However, this effect may be important and should be taken into account. Usually the substrate has an adverse effect on the separations, although sometimes this effect may be positive. These problems are considered in detail by Berezkin¹⁵⁷.

The surface of the support or the column wall may not only contribute substantially to the retention of the chromatographed substances but may also influence the orientation of the liquid crystal molecules in various ways. Some information on this subject may be gathered from studies connected with the design of liquid crystal displays¹⁵⁸. In view, however, of the special treatment of the surface of glass used in these displays, the possible correlations are very limited. A better knowledge of the effect of the condition of the surface and of the arrangement on this surface of the liquid crystal molecules should allow us to obtain systems with an optimum arrangement of the liquid crystal molecules in the column and hence with optimum properties as regards chromatographic separations. The activity or neutrality of the surface of the support on which the liquid crystal is deposited has an effect on the mechanism of retention of polymethylbenzenes and *n*-alkylbenzenes⁹⁶. Practice has shown that the use of an active support with a developed specific surface area (Silochrom, 80 m² g⁻¹) may give better separations of dimethylmercury and its contaminants and of diethyl sulphide and its contaminants on the nematic *p*-*n*-butyloxybenzoic acid deposited on that support compared with the same liquid crystal deposited on Chromaton N AW^{71,110,159}.

The distribution of the liquid crystal on the support and hence the properties of the whole system are affected not only by the chemical character (silanized or nonsilanized surface) and porous structure of the support, but also by the amount of the liquid crystal deposited on its surface^{160,161}. The effect of the support surface also manifests itself by the changes in the phase transition temperatures of the deposited liquid crystal. This effect is related to the conditions under which the column filling is heat treated. During heating, a redistribution of the liquid crystal on the support takes place and as a result the properties of the system are changed^{96,162,163}. In some instances conditioning at high temperatures leads to a more advantageous ordering of the liquid crystals in the column. Therefore, if this treatment is not long enough or is conducted at an insufficiently high temperature, sometimes the selectivity of the column may change in the course of its use¹⁶⁴. It should be borne in mind that the occurrence of this phenomenon is related to the kind of liquid crystal used and the properties of the surface on which it has been deposited.

The selectivity and also other properties of the system depend strongly on the kind of support used and on the amount of the liquid crystal deposited on it^{165,166}, as shown in Fig. 9. The selectivity also depends on the thickness of the liquid crystal layer on the capillary column wall and on the character of the wall surface^{87,90,91,96}. The reproducibility and reliability of the retention data are the better the more inactive is the surface of the capillary wall and the greater is the thickness of the liquid crystal layer (>140 nm)⁸⁷.

The liquid crystal molecules may occur on the support in two states^{162,163,166}: as a film on the surface or in bulk form in the capillaries. The proportion of the two states influences the properties of the system and depends on the kind of the support and the kind and amount of the deposited liquid crystal.

Studies of the dependence of retention on the coverage of the support make it possible to determine the thickness of the monolayer of the liquid crystal on the support surface and hence to establish how the molecules of the liquid crystal are arranged on the surface^{160,161}. It has been calculated that the molecule of the liquid crystal shown schematically in Fig. 10 occupies an area 0.806 nm² on the surface of a silanized support. If the length of the bonds in the molecules is taken into account, it can be calculated that the liquid crystal molecule may occupy maximally about 1.2 nm² in the planar position and minimally 0.21 nm² in the homeotropic position. The surface area of the flat, rigid part of the molecule (hatched in Fig. 10) is about 0.75 nm^2 . By comparing these values it can be seen that the molecule may lie on the surface of the support planarly on its rigid, flat part with the hydrocarbon chain raised upwards. In this way a sort of modified surface of the support is formed on which successive layers of the liquid crystal are deposited. The formation of a monolayer is not, however, a sufficient condition for a further uniform distribution of the liquid crystal on the support surface. As the amount of the liquid crystal on that surface increases it accumulates in the pores with diameters greater than 1 $\mu m^{160,161}$.



Fig. 9. Relationship between relative retention of *p*-xylene and *m*-xylene and column temperature with different amounts of liquid crystalline stationary phase deposited on Chromosorb PAW and Chromosorb PAW DMCS¹⁶⁵.



Fig. 10. Liquid crystalline 4-cyano-4'-n-heptyloxyformyloxyazobenzene molecule¹⁶⁰.

The interaction of the support surface with the liquid crystal stationary phase may give specific effects. One is a lowering of the melting point (by 7° C) of part of the liquid crystal owing to its contact with the silanized surface of various diatomite supports. The occurrence of this effect was detected for two liquid crystals prepared from the 4-cyano-4'-n-alkoxycarboxyazobenzenes with seven and nine carbon atoms in the alkyl chain^{162,163,167}. The lowering of the melting point is due to the formation, under the influence of the support, of a layer of the phase with a crystalline structure different from that of the bulk liquid crystal beyond the support. This effect is not related to the kind of substance chromatographed but depends on the kind and amount of the liquid crystal deposited on the support and is a feature of the liquid crystal-silanized support system. It appears when the amount of the liquid crystal on the support exceeds ca. 3% and manifests itself by a new phase transition not observed thermo-optically. Hence this effect differs from the normal interactions of the liquid crystal with the support, which at small coverages of the support manifest themselves by a shift of the phase transition connected with the liquid crystal melting point and not by a new phase transition.

The variation of the specific retention volume accompanying the considered effect with the amount of the liquid crystal on the support is illustrated in Fig. 11. Below the melting point of the crystal (83° C), an additional phase transition appears at 76°C. The increases in retention related to the latter transition are approximately equal for all three supports. The increase in retention related to the second transition (at 83° C) depends on the amount of the stationary phase on the support. This effect is not observed for non-silanized supports. It follows that the interaction of the silanized support with the two considered liquid crystals is different from that of the non-silanized supports.

Fig. 12 and 13 show the relationships between the retention volume of o-xylene,



Fig. 11. Variation in retention volume of o-xylene with temperature on liquid crystalline 4-cyano-4'-*n*-heptyloxyformyloxyazobenzene deposited in different amounts on Chromosorb P AW DMCS. The additional phase transition at 76°C is visible¹⁶⁷.



Fig. 12. Variation of the retention volume of *o*-xylene with the amount of liquid crystalline 4-cyano-4'-*n*-heptyloxyformyloxyazobenzene deposited on Chromosorb P AW¹⁶⁰.

calculated in terms of the support mass (V_s), and the amount of 4-cyano-4'-n-heptyloxycarboxyazobenzene for fillings in which Chromosorb P AW and Chromosorb P AW DMCS were used as supports. The dependence of the retention volume on the amount of the liquid crystal is given at the temperatures corresponding to the solid (60°C), mesophase (85°C) and the additional phase transition observed on silanized surfaces. The differences between the columns with silanized and non-silanized supports are visible at each of these temperatures. The results indicate that in some chromatographic systems the inactive silanized support may show a specific activity which may considerably affect the properties of such systems.

The effect of the support on the properties of liquid crystal stationary phases is also observed when these phases are supercooled. A given liquid crystal may undergo stable supercooling on one support and resist supercooling on another. On some supports liquid crystals undergo stronger supercooling than in their absence, but



Fig. 13. Variation of the retention volume of *o*-xylene with the amount of liquid crystalline 4-cyano-4'-*n*-heptyloxyformyloxyazobenzene deposited on Chromosorb P AW DMCS¹⁶⁰.

opposite examples are also known. This depends on the properties of the whole liquid crystal – support system, which may manifest themselves in that below a certain amount of the liquid crystal on a silanized support supercooling does not take place at all or is very unstable, whereas above a certain coverage of the support with the same liquid crystal, characteristic of a given system, supercooling by several tens of degrees below the melting point may be stable. This characteristic coverage for 4-cyano-4'-n-heptyloxycarboxyazobenzene and silanized Chromosorb G, P and W was about 2.5%, 3% and 8%, respectively.¹⁶⁵

The character of the surface of the support considerably affects the relative retention of the chromatographed substances¹⁶⁷. On silanized and non-silanized Chromosorb P the relative retentions are greater at the same, small coverages of the supports with the liquid crystal stationary phase on the silanized support. The observed difference decreases with increasing coverage of the support (see Fig. 9).

5. PRACTICAL APPLICATIONS OF LIQUID CRYSTAL STATIONARY PHASES

Progress in the improvement of the physico-chemical properties and separation abilities of liquid crystal stationary phases and improvements in the efficiencies of columns filled with these phases has led to a continuing increase in the use of these phases in chromatographic practice.

Most examples of separations relate to various kinds of isomers, mainly positional isomers of benzene and naphthalene derivatives, *cis* and *trans* isomers of unsaturated hydrocarbons and isomers of polynuclear hydrocarbons and their derivatives. All these compounds often occur in mixtures of industrial importance. The separations of these substances on liquid crystal stationary phases are usually better and often faster than those on common isotropic stationary phases. This also relates to such highly selective isotropic stationary phases as cyclodextrins^{56,153} and polysiloxanes.

Liquid crystals allow the separation of complex mixtures not only in the conventional way. For instance, Watabe *et al.*¹⁶⁸ developed a method for identifying and determinating components in the overlapping peaks of two or even three substances. They used a capillary column, provided with an internal and an external electrode, filled with 4,4'-di-*n*-amyloxyazoxybenzene to which they applied a constant electric field. Under the action of this field polar compounds are adsorbed in the column, the amount of the substance adsorbed increasing with the electric field. The adsorption is also affected by the dielectric constant and structure of the chromatographed substance and the kind of liquid crystal used.

5.1. Separation of isomers of benzene and naphthalene derivatives

For the separation of isomers of benzene derivatives, the use is recommended of methoxyazoxybenzene (MEAB), a nematic with the mesophase ranging from about 90 to 150°C and classified in the group of medium-temperature liquid crystal stationary phases. MEAB is the most frequently tested and practically used liquid crystal^{74,81,82,90–98,169–174} and can also be applied when supercooled to 70°C⁹³. Vigdergauz and co-workers are of the opinion that this liquid crystal should be included in the set of stationary phases recommended for the universal system of chemical analysis^{74,175–177}. They suggested that 4,4'-ethoxypropoxyazoxybenzene should also be included in that set^{132,178}.

Alkylbenzenes are well separated on MEAB^{90,92,93,169,170}. For instance, a mixture of C_{10} - C_{13} was succesfully separated on MEAB in a 23-m capillary in the mesophase temperature range⁹², and at 100°C a good separation of 22 C_{14} - C_{17} alkylbenzenes was achieved in 22 min¹⁷⁰. Xylene and ethylbenzene isomers can be separated in a 20-m column filled with MEAB in 70 s⁹³. For the separation of a similar mixture, in addition to MEAB its eutectic mixture with 4,4'-azoxyphenetole was also used¹⁷².

On MEAB a high relative retention of p- and m-xylene $(r_{p/m})$ is obtained, being 1.12–1.13 in the mesophase range. On supercooling, the value of $r_{p/m}$ at 80°C is 1.14 and at about 40°C it is $1.25^{96,173}$. The supercooled state at the latter temperature is, however, probably unstable.

The *p*- and *m*-xylene isomers are often used for measuring the selectivity of columns with liquid crystal stationary phases in view of the difficult separation of these isomers on common stationary phases. Some workers, however, are of the opinion that these isomers are not ideal test substances, as in the chromatographic system the interactions between the liquid crystal stationary phase and the chromatographed substance connected with their polarity are much greater than solute–solvent steric hindrance⁸³. Some observations and conclusions regarding the differences in the retentions of *meta* and *para* disubstituted benzene derivatives on common stationary phases may be helpful when the mechanism of separations of these isomers on liquid crystal stationary phases is considered¹⁷⁹.

Apart form MEAB, other liquid crystal stationary phases also give very good separations of alkylbenzene isomers. For instance, the separations of alkylbenzenes obtained on 2-methyl-4'-*n*-butyl-4''-ethoxybenzoyloxyazobenzene in an analytical aluminium column were better than those obtained on SE-30 or OV- 17^{180} . A mixture of benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, xylenes, isopropylbenzene, styrene and *n*-propylbenzene is better separated (with a different order of elution) and in a shorter time on 4-*n*-pentylacetophenone (O-4-*n*-ethyloxybenzoyl oxime)⁹⁵ than on a heavy alkylated benzene stationary phase modified with Bentone 34^{181} . Various alkylbenzenes have also been successfully separated in a 1-m conventional analytical column on the liquid crystal hydroquinone *p*-heptoxybenzoate¹⁸².

Other liquid crystals have also been used for separations of mixtures containing isomers of alkylbenzenes 183-185.

Very good separations of alkylbenzenes are obtained on recently obtained liquid crystal isothiocyanates¹⁰⁰. The mesophase ranges of some of these liquid crystals compare well with those of the MEAB mesophase. Others reveal much wider ranges of the mesophase and may be used in capillary columns with temperature programming for the separation of mixtures containing components differing significantly in boiling temperature. Thus, on isothiocyanate stationary phases, mixtures containing alkylnaphthalenes in addition to alkylbenzenes may be separated¹⁰⁰. For instance, dimethylnaphthalene isomers, and also pairs, which are very difficult to separate on other stationary phases, were separated.

The separation of methylnaphthalenes and of nine dimethylnaphthalenes on 4-ethyl-4'-(*p*-methylbenzoyloxy)azobenzene was studied by Suprynowicz *et al.*¹⁴⁶. A liquid crystal containing a naphthalene ring in its molecule was applied to the separation of α - and β -naphthols and certain dihydroxynaphthalenes, and the effect was better than when OV-17 or OV-225 was used¹⁸⁶. The results were better when the hydroxynaphthalenes were converted into acyl derivatives.

Very good separations of various positional and geometric isomers, including methylnaphthalenes, dichlorobenzenes and pheromones, were obtained when the liquid crystal stationary phase was used in the supercooled state¹⁸⁷.

5.2. Separation of alkene and alkane isomers

The isomers of alkenes and alkanes can be separated on conventional stationary phases especially when long capillary columns are used. The above described MEAB liquid crystal is useful for separating alkenes. This asymmetric azoxybenzene was compared with other symmetric and asymmetric azoxybenzenes and with methoxyethoxyazobenzene for the separation of C_{15} - C_{17} . MEAB showed the best separating properties⁹⁴.

On the MEAB mesophase and supercooled phase in a capillary column good separations of C_{15} - C_{18} alkanes and of mixtures of alkene isomers and cyclic hydrocarbons⁹¹ and also C_{10} - C_{14} alkenes⁹³ were obtained. A change in retention occurs in which *trans*-5-decene is eluted before *trans*-4-decene. In general, it can be concluded that the *trans* isomers are retained longer than the *cis* isomers on liquid crystal stationary phases⁹⁶. In Fig. 14 it is shown that the analysis of *n*-pentadecene isomers and *n*-pentadecane is much faster when chromatography is carried out on MEAB instead of conventional stationary phases^{96,188}.

A procedure for the analysis of hydrocarbon mixtures has been patented. One of the claims is the use of MEAB^{189,190} and of a eutectic mixture of two other liquid crystal stationary phases¹⁹¹.



Fig. 14. Chromatograms of the separation of *n*-pentadecene isomers on columns coated with (a) Apolan-87 (200 m × 0.25 mm I.D., $N = 670\ 000\ plates$), (b) Carbowax 20M (300 m × 0.25 mm I.D., $N = 400\ 000\ plates$) and (c) MEAB (90 m × 0.25 mm I.D., $N = 200\ 000\ plates$). c- = cis-isomer; t- = trans-isomer; n-C₁₅ = *n*-pentadecane; 1- = *n*-pentadecene¹⁷³.

In general, 4-*n*-pentylacetophenone (O-4-*n*-pentyloxybenzoyl oxime; PBO) is less selective than MEAB, but the isomers of C_9-C_{11} *n*-alkenes and *n*-alkanes are separated better on it than on MEAB⁹⁷. The diastereoisomers of C_8-C_{10} alkanes are separated better on PBO than on conventional stationary phases⁹⁸. It has been shown that PBO has advantages as a stationary phase in the separation of alkyne isomers¹⁹². As in other systems, alternation of retention of the particular isomers was observed depending on their molecular structure (even or odd number of atoms in the molecule and position of the multiple bond in the chain). The separation of alkynes on a liquid crystal is easy as they are eluted in the order of corresponding to the shift of the triple bond from the centre towards the end of the chain, the selectivity increasing in the same order. Particularly good results were obtained when alkynes with ten or more carbon atoms in the molecule were separated¹⁹².

 $C_{18}-C_{20}$ isoprenoid diastereomeric alkanes are separated worse on PBO than on isotropic phases⁹⁸. In contrast, diastereomeric arylalkenes are separated better on a cholesteric liquid crystal than on a non-polar isotropic stationary phase¹⁹³. By comparing the results obtained it can be concluded that if an isomer with a "more elongated" racemic molecule is eluted from a conventional stationary phase in the same or longer time than an isomer with a "less elongated" *meso* molecule, then these isomers are separated better on a liquid crystal stationary phase. This situation prevails with C_8-C_{10} hydrocarbons. In contrast, if the "more elongated" isomers is eluted earlier, then its shift beyond the "less elongated" isomer, typical of liquid crystal stationary phases, becomes diffcult and therefore the separation on liquid crystals is worse⁹⁸.

The separation of a multi-component mixture of paraffinic hydrocarbons in a common 1-m analytical column filled with the hydroquinone ester of p-heptoxybenzoic acid, although requiring a long time, is an illustration of the separation possibilities with liquid crystal stationary phases¹⁸².

5.3. Separation of mixtures of benzene and aliphatic hydrocarbon derivatives containing heteroatoms

Apart from hydrocarbons, many other organic compounds of different polarity and volatility, including those with oxygen in the molecule, may be analysed on liquid crystal stationary phases.

As regards non-alkyl benzene derivatives, the separation was studied of dichlorophenol isomers on 4,4'-dimethoxyazoxybenzene (DMAB) and on isotropic stationary phases. Although the separation on DMAB was generally good, the separation of 2,6- and 2,5-dichlorophenols proved impossible. No succes was achieved in this respect when the above liquid crystal was mixed with dioctyl phthalate or silicone KF-54¹⁹⁴. The separation of dichlorophenols also presented problems when 4,4'diethoxyazoxybenzene was used as the stationary phase¹⁹⁵. In contrast, chlorophenol isomers and the esters of *p*-hydroxybenzoic acid were well separated on liquid crystal polyacrylates¹⁴⁵.

Among other compounds chromatographed on liquid crystal stationary phases are lower aliphatic amines¹⁹⁶, pesticides¹⁹⁷, mono- and bifunctional impurities in terephthalic acid and dimethyl terephthalate¹⁹⁸, organic compounds in aqueous medium¹⁹⁹, alcohols, esters, glycols²⁰⁰, pentanol isomers, esters²⁰¹, diene aliphatic alcohols and their acetates²⁰², gemfibrosil [2,2-dimethyl-5-(2,5-xylyloxy)valeric acid] containing an isomeric contaminant²⁰³, isomers of $C_3-C_5^{132}$, C_1-C_5 and C_3-C_8 aliphatic alcohols¹¹¹, pheromones²⁰⁴ and oxygen-containing 4,4-dimethyl-1,3-dioxane synthesis products¹¹². On polymeric liquid crystal siloxanes, *cis* and *trans* isomers of saturated fatty acid esters were separated⁹⁹, the *trans* isomers being retained longer than the *cis* isomers.

5.4. Separation of polynuclear hydrocarbons

Gas chromatography with liquid crystal stationary phases allows the analysis of various mixtures of polynuclear hydrocarbons. Such analyses have become fairly common, on the one hand in view of the high toxicity of these compounds, many of them being carcinogenic²⁰⁵, and on the other because liquid crystal stationary phases are particularly well suited for this analysis as they allow the separation of isomers.

Recently, polymeric siloxane liquid crystal stationary phases have become increasingly used for separating polynuclear hydrocarbons^{28–33,35,67,99,103,206–209}. These phases are suitable for use in capillary columns⁸⁰, primarily glass and fusedsilica columns. They are usually used individually, although sometimes they are mixed with isotropic siloxane polymers, *e.g.*, SE-30 (polydimethylsiloxane)⁹⁹. It is interesting that most of these polymers are smectics and that they reveal very good separation properties^{28,29,31–33,103,206,207,209,210}. In addition to siloxane polymers, polymers without silicon atoms in the molecule are also used for this purpose^{35,145}. All polymers can be used when the temperature is programmed over a wide range. Some of them may be used for a longer time at 280°C and a shorter time at 300°C.

The nematic siloxane polymers reveal mesophase ranges of $70-300^{\circ}C^{67}$ or $91-319^{\circ}C^{99}$, and their separation properties are superior to those of SE-52. This has been shown by way of example for methyldibenzothiophenes and tetranuclear aromatic compounds with sulphur in the ring, and also for other polyaromatic hydrocarbons and their methyl isomers. For the last separation columns filled with SE-52 and a liquid crystal were combined in different configurations, various separations being obtained⁶⁷.

On smectic liquid crystal siloxane polymers the following separations were, for instance, carried out: polychlorodibenzodioxine and polychlorodibenzofuran isomers^{103,208}, hydroxy thiophene derivatives (both primary and modified by treatment with trimethylsilylimidazole)²⁰⁶ and isomers of methylchrysene and methylbenz[a]anthracene³². On the polysiloxane smectic phase, dimethyldibenzothiophene isomers²⁹, coal tar polynuclear hydrocarbons²⁸, isomers of methylphenanthrene, methylchrysene, hydroxydibenzothiophene, aminophenanthrene and of other compounds³¹ are separated better than on SE-54. Naikwadi et al.²¹⁰ separated, in addition to polynuclear hydrocarbons and polychlorinated compounds, also halogendisubstituted benzene derivatives. The separation of mixtures on liquid crystal siloxane polymers, as on other stationary phases, depends on the molecular structure of these polymers. It has been found that an increase in the number of mesomorphic groups in the smectic polymers leads to a higher smectic-isotropic liquid phase transition temperature and to a higher selectivity towards isomers. However, this is accompanied by a slow decrease in the efficiency of the system. We can illustrate this effect by using a mixture of methylphenanthrene and methylcarbazole isomers by way of example²⁸.

It has been found that an analogy exists between the dependence of retention on

the shape of the molecule of the substance being chromatographed on the liquid crystal smectic siloxane polymer in gas chromatography and on the polymeric octadecylsilane (C₁₈) in liquid chromatography²⁰⁹. The similar order of elution of isomeric polynuclear hydrocarbons in both instances indicates that the surface of the polymeric C₁₈ phases is more ordered than that of the monomeric type²¹¹. The similarity of the selectivities on reversed phases in liquid chromatography and on liquid crystal stationary phases in gas chromatography may be extended beyond polyaromatic compounds by suggesting that the excellent separations of other isomeric compounds on liquid crystals may also be achieved in liquid chromatography on polymeric C₁₈ phases.

It should be noted that the separations of polynuclear hydrocarbons on polymeric smectics are so good that they have been used to establish the quantitative composition (with the use of an internal standard) of standard solutions of these hydrocarbons²⁰⁷.

On liquid crystal polyacrylates, in addition to mixtures of aromatic compounds also the isomers of chlorophenols and esters of *p*-hydroxybenzoic acid and of methoxynaphthalenes and naphthols have been separated^{35,145,212}. Polyacrylates have also been used as stationary phases in supercritical fluid chromatography in glass and fused-silica capillary columns with carbon dioxide as the mobile phase. These stationary phases resist pressures of 200 MPa at 160°C. They have also been used to separate the isomers of naphthols and phenylphenols²¹³. It can be expected that liquid crystal stationary phases will be increasingly used in supercritical fluid chromatography as this method develops further, its current development being very rapid and promising^{214–218}.

In the analysis of polynuclear hydrocarbons, monomeric liquid crystals from the group of Schiff bases, mainly BMBT, BBBT, BPhBT and BHxBT, find continued application^{68,69,72,73,219–224}. In view of their features, these stationary phases have been chiefly used in conventional analytical columns^{69,72,73,219–223} and only seldom in capillary (fused-silica) columns^{68,84,224}. On these phases separations were effected of, *e.g.*, biphenyl polychloro derivatives²²², hydrocarbons containing 3–6 rings in the molecule and their derivatives and also isomers^{72,73,219–221,223}. Some hydrocarbons were isolated from graphitized carbon black⁷² and airborne particulates^{221,223}. On BBBT phase mixed with SE-52 (1:1), 4-5–ring hydrocarbons containing sulphur in the molecule were separated⁶⁸. The mixed phases BMBT – OV-17 and BBBT – SE-30 were used in combined columns or in one column to determine the content of anthracene, phenanthrene and carbazole in carbochemical products⁶⁹. It has been shown in this connection that gas chromatography gives superior determination to polarography and UV spectrometry.

Anthracene, phenanthrene and other polynuclear hydrocarbons, including benzopyrenes, have also been separated on other high-temperature liquid crystal stationary phases with very good results^{77,143,144,225–231}.

The earlier considered liquid crystal polysiloxane stationary phases reveal very good separating properties and high thermal stability. Some of them, however, have the disadvantage that it is almost impossible to use them in the whole range of the mesophase and supercooled state as their viscosity is high at low temperatures³⁰. This disadvantage does not apply to liquid crystal isothiocyanates, which are characterized by a wide range of the mesophase, comparable to that of the siloxane polymers, and

which have a low viscosity. Owing to these properties the liquid crystal isothiocyanates are potentially superior to liquid crystal Schiff bases as stationary phases. The easier synthesis, good solubility and good coating of capillary column walls are also features that place isothiocyanates ahead of siloxane polymers. Studies of the liquid crystal isothiocyanates as stationary phases were started only recently, so not all their properties are yet known. However, the first results regarding the separation of polynuclear hydrocarbons are very promising^{101,232}.

In discussing the analyses conducted on liquid crystal stationary phases, it should also be noted that various chromatographic methods have been used for testing the purity of and separating liquid crystal mixtures, *e.g.*, thin layer chromatography^{233,234}, high-performance column chromatography combined with mass spectrometry²³⁵, gas chromatography²³⁶ and supercritical fluid chromatography²³⁷.

To assess chromatographic separations on liquid crystal stationary phases one can use the universal retention indices 174,178,238 .

In Table 2 examples are given of separations on liquid crystal stationary phases and the parameters of the chromatographic processes. In Figs. 15-17 examples of chromatograms of separated compounds are shown.

6. APPLICATIONS OF LIQUID CRYSTALS IN LIQUID CHROMATOGRAPHY

6.1. Column chromatography

It has already been mentioned that liquid crystal siloxane polymers find application in supercritical fluid chromatography²¹³. A recent paper dealt with the use of liquid crystals in column liquid chromatography²⁴¹. It described the behaviour and properties of two liquid crystals, *viz.*, 4-ethoxybenzylidene-4'-*n*-butylaniline (EBBA) and cholesteryl oleate (ChO). The mesophase range of EBBA lies in the range 35.5– 77.5°C and that of ChO in the range 20–33°C. These liquid crystals were deposited on Silasorb-600 (silica gel) in amounts of 20% and 40%, respectively. The phase transition points of these liquid crystals measured chromatographically were lower than those measured thermo-optically. With EBBA the clearing point was about 30°C lower. This lowering of the phase transition points was related to the adsorption of the liquid crystals on the surface of silica gel, although this has not been confirmed. Possibly the effect of hexane used as the mobile phase, which could influence the properties of the mesophase, was wrongly neglected. This seems the more likely as the properties of the mesophase are influenced even by the presence or absence of a gas²⁴².

With an increase in temperature the capacity factor of nitrotoluene isomers increased on both liquid crystals (EBBA and ChO). However, no distinct differences in the α values of *o*- and *m*-dinitrobenzene (DNB) at the melting point of EBBA were observed on uncoated Silasorb and Silasorb coated with the EBBA liquid crystal, although there were certain differences in the course of the plot of $\alpha_{o/m-DNB}$ versus temperature.

Examples have been given of the separation of nitrotoluene isomers on ChO (see Fig. 18). The separation was better the higher the column temperature. However, this separation should not be related directly to the liquid crystal properties of ChO as at least two separations (better) were obtained beyond the mesophase range. It is difficult to explain the results obtained and the mechanism of the observed phenom-

TABLE 2

EXAMPLES OF LIQUID CRYSTAL STATIONARY PHASES AND MIXTURES SEPARATED ON THEM^a

Stationary phase	Transition to phase (°C)	e	Column (m×mm I.D.)	Temperature of column	Separated substances and separation time (min)	Ref.
	Smectic	Nematic	Isotropic		(\mathbf{r})		
4-Methoxy-4'-ethoxyazoxy- benzene (MEAB)		91	150	Glass capillary		22 C ₁₄ -C ₁ , alkylbenzenes and <i>o</i> -dialkylbenzenes obtained from	61
4-n-Pentylacetophenone (O.4-n-ethyloxybenzoyl		76	112	Glass, 48 × 0.25	140 40	denydrogenation of <i>n</i> -atkanes (32) 20 $C_{10} - C_{13}$ phenylalkanes (17.5) 9 $C_6 - C_9$ aromatic hydrocarbons (2.5)	
oxime) (EBU) Polysiloxanes	98 103		226 788	Fused silica,	120-200	5 methylphenanthrene isomers	28
	92	246	286	Fused silica,	120-230	4 methylcarbazole isomers	
	120		230-260	Fused silica,	40-280	16 polycyclic aromatic	
Polysiloxane (PMPS-1,2)	130	219	235	Fused silica,	80-200	7 isomeric dimethyldibenzothiophenes	29
Polysiloxane	118		300	Fused-silica	70-170	5 isomeric methylphenanthrenes (19)	31
				capillary Fused-silica	70-250	6 isomeric methylchrysenes (38)	
				capillary Fused-silica canillary	70-210	4 isomeric hydroxydibenzo- thionhenes (79)	
				Fused-silica	70-210	5 isomeric aminophenanthrenes (30)	
				capillary Fused-silica	120-220	4 nitrogen heterocyclics and	
				capillary Fused-silica		5 n-alkanes (20) 5 icomeric four-ring notworlie	
				capillary		aromatics	
Polysiloxane	104		308 206	Fused silica,	40-250	16 methylbenz[a]anthracene	32
	с у		900	10 × 0.7		and methylchrysene isomers (w.)	

66

Polysiloxanes	130 118	219	235 300	Fused silica, $10-30 \times 0.2$ or 0.3		Polycyclic aromatic compounds and slightly polar sulphur	33
Polyacrylates		75	246	Glass, 32 × 0.25	130	heterocyclics Diphenylmethane, biphenyl, 1,2-diphenylethane, 1-methoxynaphthalene, 2-methoxynaphthalene, fluorene, <i>o</i> -terphe- nyl, triphenylmethane, phenanthrene, anthra- nyl, triphenylmethane, phenanthrene, anthra-	35
		69 70 85	230 270 291	Glass, 30 × 0.25 Glass, 32 × 0.25 Glass, 31 × 0.25	150 180 135	<i>o.</i> , <i>m.</i> and <i>p</i> -toluic acids (15) <i>o.</i> , <i>m.</i> and <i>p</i> -toluic acids (15) 1- and 2-naphthol (11) Methyl, ethyl, propyl, butyl, pentyl and hexyl	_
Mixture of two disc-like liquid crystals (1:1)				Glass, 2.1×4	78	Derizoates (1+) Pentane, hexane, cyclohexane, methylcyclohexane, octane (4.5) Cyclohexane, cyclohexene, benzene, cyclooo- tene, cyclootatetraene, cycloooctadiene (15) Hentane, octane, nonane, <i>p</i> -xvlene, <i>o</i> -xvlene	57
N,N'-Bis(<i>p</i> -methoxybenzyli- dene)- <i>a</i> , <i>a</i> '-bi- <i>p</i> -toluidine (BMBT) + GE SE-30 N,N'-Bis(<i>p</i> -butoxybenzyli- dene)- <i>a</i> , <i>a</i> '-bi- <i>p</i> -toluidine (BBBT) + GE SE-30				Steel, 2×2	230	decane (16) Technically pure anthracene, (naphthalene, 1- and 2-methyl- naphthalenes, diphenyl, dimethyl- naphthalene, diphenyl oxide, fluorene, triphenylmethane, phenanthrene, anthracene, carbazole,	66
Polysiloxane (PMMS)		70	300	Fused silica, 19 × 0.32	120-260 120-260	fluoranthene, pyrene (19) 16 methyldibenzothiophenes and four-ring aromatic sulphur heterocyclic (31) 17 compounds of the sulphur heterocyclic	67 s
PMMS + SE-52 BBBT + SE-52 (1:1)				Fused silica, 19.6 × 0.32	120–270 230 230 220 230	fraction of a coal liquid (40) 32 polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (57) 6 methylchrysene isomers (16) 6 methylchrysene isomers (21) 12 four-ring aromatic sulphur heterocyclics (10) 10 five-ring aromatic sulphur heterocyclic (25)	s 68

(continued)
2
BLE
ΤA

manna - (commun)							
Stationary phase	Transition to phase (n temperatul °C)	e,	Column (m×mm I.D.)	Temperature of column	Separated substances and separation time (min)	Ref.
	Smectic	Nematic	Isotropic		()		
Mixture of three liquid crystals				Glass, 3.1 × 3	104	Mono- and dialkylbenzenes (20)	70
BBBT	159	188	303	Glass, 0.7×3	210	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon	72
				i i i		fraction of a carbon black (300)	8
BMBI		181	320	Glass, 1.9×2	061	1 / tricyclic and tetracyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (35)	5/
				Glass, 3 × 2	240	Mixture of isomers of pentacyclic aromatic hydrocarbons	
				Glass, 1.9 × 2	260	Mixture of isomers of hexacyclic aromatic hy-	
4,4'-Biphenylene dibenzoate		250	350	Steel, 1×2	240	Isomeric four-ring compounds (44)	11
•				×	280	Isomeric five-ring compounds (7)	
				Steel, 3×2		Isomeric disubstituted benzenes and naph-	
			1		1	thalene derivatives	
MEAB		16	051	Brass, 10×0.35 Dross 6×0.25	178	10 methyl esters of fatty acids (40)	81
				Brass, 0 × 0.35	180	10 atomus (14) O rusmides of fatty acide (38)	
MEAB		76	147	Steel, 50×0.25	120	Isomers of chlorotoluene (8)	82
4-n-Pentylacetophenone		41	69.5	Glass capillary		Isomers of C ₈ cyclic and	83
O-4-n-neptytoenzyl oxime)						aromatic nydrocarbons	
BBBT		188	303	Glass, 18 × 0.25	200-260	Methylchrysene isomers (44)	84
					200	3 four-ring polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (18)	
					280	Benzopyrenes, perylene and benzofluoranthenes (41)	
N, N'-Bis(<i>p</i> -phenylbenzyli- dene)-a,a'-bi- <i>p</i> -toluidine (RPhRT)		257	403	Glass, 20 × 0.25	280	10 polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (25)	
4- <i>n</i> -Pentylacetophenone		63	94	Glass capillary		cis and trans isomers of	86
(U-+-n-pentyloxyoenzoyl oxime) (PBO)						n-indecenes and n tetradecenes	
BBBT		188	303	Glass, 10×0.22	280	Phenanthrene, anthracene, pyrene, 5) pyrene, benz[a]anthracene, chrysene (5)	68

APPLICATION OF LIQUID CRYSTALS IN CHROMATOGRAPHY

				Glass, 10 × 0.22	280	Mixture of 4–6 polycyclic aromatic	
AEAB		76	147	Steel, capillary		hydrocarbons (25) C ₅ -C ₁₈ <i>n</i> -alkanes, isoalkanes and alkylcycli hydrocarbone	ic 91
AEAB		91.5	150	Glass, 23 × 0.25	06	$20 C_{10} - C_{13}$ phenylalkanes (44)	92
AEAB		95.8	148	Glass, 20 × 0.25	140	$2^{0} C_{10} - C_{13}$ pnenyiatkanes (13) Isomers C _a alkylbenzenes and	93
KEA B		05 Q	148	Glass conillant		cis, trans isomers of C ₁₀ -C ₁₄ n-alkenes	. 10
-Propoxy-4'-ethoxyazoxy-		101.5	140	Olass capillary			ţ
eenzene - Propoxy-4' - propoxyazoxy-							
enzene		115.5	123.6				
-Butoxy-4'-ethoxyazoxybenzene -Methoxy-4'-ethoxyazobenzene		100 132.2	146 134.5				
BO		56	93	Glass capillary	40	Benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene,	95
				I		<i>m</i> - and <i>p</i> -xylene, isopropylbenzene,	
AEAB		95.8	148	Glass, 20 × 0.25	95	0-xyrene, n-propyroenzene, styrene (2.3) Isomers of C, alkylbenzenes (1.2)	96
				Glass, 86 × 0.25	80	Isomers of $C_{1,0}^{\circ} - C_{1,3}^{\circ}$ <i>n</i> -alkenes (44)	
BO		56	93	Glass, 48 × 0.25	40	Benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene, m-	
		\$	•			and <i>p</i> -xylene, isopropypbenzene, <i>o</i> -xylene (2	5)
B 0		63	44	Glass, 100 × 0.25	8	25 isomeric C_9-C_{11} <i>n</i> -alkenes and the corresponding <i>n</i> -alkanes (72)	16
BO		63	94	Glass, 100 × 0.25	40	Diastercomeric $C_{B}-C_{10}$ alkanes (30)	98
olysiloxanes (MEPSIL)				Glass, 15×0.25	140-200	12 fatty acid methyl esters (16)	66
MEPSIL + SE-30 (1:1)				Glass, 15 × 0.25	100-290	20 polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (56)	
					240	Isomeric methyl-substituted benz[a]- anthracenes (22)	
					275	Isomeric methyl-substituted benzo[a]pyrene (32)	S
sothiocyanates		58	132	Glass, 15.5 × 0.3	50	Alkylbenzenes and dialkylbenzenes (16)	100
					127	Dialkylnaphthalenes (24)	
	55.8	98.5	130	Glass, 20 × 0.3	100.5 129.5	Alkyl- and dialkylbenzenes (10) Isomers of dimethylnaphthalenes (25)	
sothiocyanate	135	163	280	Glass, 12.5 × 0.3	246279	13 polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (33)	101

(Continued on p. 70)

69

TABLE 2 (continued)	

Stationary phase	Transition to phase (t temperatur °C)	e.	Column (m×mm I.D.)	Temperature of column	Separated substances and separation time (min)	Ref.
	Smectic	Nematic	Isotropic		(.c.)		
SB-smectic				Glass, 25 × 0.32	180-280	2,3,7,8-Class congeners of	103
						polychlorodibenzodioxins and	164
4-(4-Nonyloxybenzoyloxy)-		70	250	Glass, 1.5 × 3	220	polychiorogioenzorurans Fluorene, phenanthrene,	108
4'-cyanoazobenzene						anthracene (11)	•
					140	m- and p-dibromobenzene, m- and	
					76	p-chloroacetophenone (6)	
					55	2 vylene isomers (2.2)	
4-n-Butvloxvhenzoic acid		147	160	Close 1v3		3 xylene isomers (3.5)	
		í.	100	01455, 2 × 2	100	Methane, methyl bromide, ethyl	110
						bromide, ethyl iodide, ethyl acetate, ethanc diethyl sulphide (15)	5
2-Cyano-5-phenylpyrimidine		121	128	Glass, 2.2×3	80	Benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene.	
						m- and p-xylene, isopropylbenzene,	
						o-xylene	
					124	4 isomers of butanol	
					80	8 C,-C, alcohols	
					80	6 C ₁ -C ₅ alcohols	
					124	methyl ethyl ketone, methyl propyl ketone	.
						methyl butyl ketone	
4,4'-Azoxyphenetole		138	168	Glass, 6×3	92	6 heterocyclic compounds of the	112
						dioxane and pyrane group (16)	
4,4 - Ethoxypropoxyazoxybenzene		102.5	148			Isopropanol, n-propanol,	132
						isobutanol, <i>n</i> -butanol, isopentanol, <i>n</i> -penta	<u>.</u>
Bis(4-methylene-4'-n-butoxy-		201	310	Steel, 1 × 4	243	13 polycyclic aromatic	144
azobenzene						hydrocarbons (60)	
Bis(4-methylene-4'-n-butoxy-	197	212	283	Steel, 1×4	220	11 polycyclic aromatic	
3'-cyanoazobenzene)						hydrocarbons (50)	
Ris(4-methylene-4'_n-hutovy-		115	FOC	Ctarl 1 v 4	180	1- and 2-naphthylamine (8)	
3'-methylazobenzene		CII	204	Steel, 1 × 4	170	1- and 2-ethylnaphthalene (12)	

APPLICATION OF LIQUID CRYSTALS IN CHROMATOGRAPHY

Polvacrylates	95	250	Glass, 35 × 0.25	160	10 aromatic hydrocarbons (29)	145
•	70	270	Glass, 32×0.25	140	3 chlorophenol isomers (8)	
				190	4 alkyl <i>p</i> -hydroxybenzoates (10)	
4-n-Butyloxybenzoic acid	147	160	1 × 3	150	3 isomers of trimethylbenzenes	159
					(1)	
			2×3	149	Impurities in dimethylmercury (4.5)	
				149	Impurities in diethyl sulphide	
A. Aroundhouchala	138	168	Conner 50×0.36	138	())) Octane henzene toluene	169
+,+ -Azoxy pitchcock	0.01	001	actor of traddoo	001	m_{-} , p_{-} and o_{-} xylene (30)	
MEAB	96	148	Copper, 50×0.36	100	Octane, benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene,	
					<i>m</i> -xylene, isopropylbenzene, <i>p</i> - and <i>o</i> -xylen (70)	e
MEAB	91.5	150	Glass, 23 × 0.25	100	$22 C_{14} - C_{17}$ alkylbenzenes (32)	170
MEAB	91	150	Copper, 40 × 0.35	108	Hexane, benzene, toluene,	172
					ethylbenzene, xylene isomers (28)	
MEAB	91	150	Glass, 90 × 0.25	80	Isomeric C_{10} - C_{13} <i>n</i> -alkenes (44)	173
				113	<i>n</i> -Pentadecene isomers (13)	
2-Methyl-4'-n-butyl-4-	107	199	Aluminium,	107	13 mono-, di- and	180
(4"-ethoxybenzoyloxy)			1.84×4		trialkylbenzenes (21)	
azobenzene					3 vinylbenzenes (28)	
Hydroquinone bis(<i>p</i> -heptyl-	121	195	1 × 3	150	20 aromatic hydrocarbons (24)	182
oxybenzoate)					Isomeric $C_{6}-C_{19}$ <i>n</i> -alkanes (125)	
2.6-Nanhthalene bis(<i>n-n</i> -	158	291	Glass, 1×3	160	1- and 2-naphthol	186
hentvloxvcinnamate)				170	1- and 2-naphthyl acetate	
					1- and 2-naphthyl propionate	
				225	1- and 2-naphthyl benzoate	
2-Methyl-4'-methoxy-4-	149	298	Glass, 2.6 × 2.6	135 (solid)	1- and 2-methoxynaphthalene	187
(<i>p</i> -methoxycinnamoyloxy)				(0;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;;	(6) 1 and 2 matheminishinghere (30)	
azobenzene				135 (nemauc)		
2-Methyl-4'-ethoxy-4-(p- methoxvcinnamovloxy)azobenzene	154	300	Glass, 2.6×2.6	104-1 /0	9,11-1 etradecadienyl acetate isomers (insect sex pheromones)	
					(55)	
2-Methyl-4'-n-butyl-4-(p-	109	253	Glass, 2.6 × 2.6	60	m- and p -xylene (9)	
methoxycinnamoyloxy)azobenzene	50	160		110	m- and p-diculorobenzene (3)	188
MEAB	4.4	061	Ulass, 80 × 0.23	c11		100

71

(Continued on p. 72)

(continued)
ē.
Щ
Ľ.
щ
Τ

Stationary phase	Transition to phase (temperature °C)	•	Colunn (m × mm I.D.)	Temperature of column	Separated substances and separation time (min)	Ref.
	Smectic	Nematic	Isotropic		(°C)		
						<i>n</i> -pentadecene isomers (13)	
MEAB		96	148	Glass, 90 × 0.25	87	47 isomers of C ₉ -C ₁₃ <i>n</i> -alkenes	189
MEAB		93	150	Steel, 50×0.25	57	15 isomers of $C_9 - C_{11}$ <i>n</i> -alkenes	190
						and C_9-C_{11} <i>n</i> -alkanes (23) 26 isomers of C_9-C_{11} <i>n</i> -alkenes, C_9-C_{11} iso	6
		Ş	2		0	alkenes and C_9-C_{11} <i>n</i> -alkanes	501
4-n-Pentylacetophenone- (0-4-n-nentyloxybenzov)		63	44	UIASS, 90 × 0.25	/	<i>n</i> -Decyne Isomers (12) <i>n</i> -Undecyne isomers (17)	761
oxime) (PBO)				Glass, 62 × 0.25	70	<i>n</i> -Tridecyne isomers (27)	
~					80	<i>n</i> -Tetradecyne isomers (35)	
Cholesterol p-chlorocinnamate				Glass, 26 × 0.2	175	Diastereomeric arylalkenes	193
						(17)	
				Glass, 13.6×0.2	190	Diastereomeric arylalkenes (54)	
4,4'-Azoxyphenetole		136	167	Glass, 2×2	138	4 isomers of pentanol	201
N,N'-Bis (p-methoxybenzylidene)-		181	320	Glass, 1.8 × 2	135	Gemibrozil containing	203
a,a'-bi-p-toluidine						2,4-xylyloxy isomer	
(BMBT)						contamination (13)	
					160	2,5-Xylenol containing 2,4-xylenol contam	-i-
						nation (7)	
SB-smectic				30×0.25	30–280	104 polycyclic aromatic	207
Polvsilozane				Fused silica.	100-270	hydrocarbons (32) Polvchlorinated biphenvls	208
				20×0.25		and 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-	
						<i>p</i> -dioxin (39)	
SB-smectic				Fused silica,		9 disubstituted benzene isomers	210
				20×0.25	100 - 270	(11)	
						8 chlorinated compounds (95)	
						17 isomeric polycyclic aromatics (69)	
						25 isomeric polycyclic aromatics (46)	
						80 isomeric polycyclic aromatics (72)	

ĺ

APPLICATION OF LIQUID CRYSTALS IN CHROMATOGRAPHY

2-Methyl-4'-methoxy-4- (4''-methoxycinnamyloxy)- azobenzene	-	26	262	2.6 × 2.6	150 90°C for 20 min then programmed at a rate of 2°C/min	Methoxynaphthalenes (18) 6 isomeric insect sex pheromone (67)	212
Polymer		95	280	Glass, 38 × 0.25	215 225	Naphthols (13) Dihydropyrene, fluoranthene, pyrene (14)	
Polymer		88	245	Glass, 45 × 0.15	180 149	10 aromatic compounds (43) 12 aromatic compounds by supercritical flui chromatography (SFC) (42)	p
Polyacrylates		75	246	Glass, 45 × 0.15	149	Diphenylmethane, diphenyl, diphenylethane, l-methoxynaphthalene, 2 methoxynaphthalene, fluorene, <i>o</i> -terphenyl triphenylmethane. phenanthrene, anthracen by SFC (27)	213 2- 11,
		95	250	Fused silica, 10 × 0.1	100 150	o-Phenylphenol, 1- and 2-napthol, m- and p-phenylphenol by SFC (12) 2,6-, 2,5-, 3,5- and 3,4-xylenol (15)	
N,N'-Bis(p-methoxyphenyl- benzylidene)-a,a'-bi-p- toluidine (BABT)	7	53	370	Glass, 1.8×2	235	N-Trimethylsilylimidazole ethers of monohydroxybenzo- [a]pyrene isomers (21) Methylbenzo[a]pyrene isomers (33)	219
N,N'-Bis(<i>p</i> -phenylbenzyli- dene)-a,a'-bi- <i>p</i> -toluidine (BPhBT)	5	57	403	Glass, 1.8×2	270	N-Trimethylsilylimidazole ethers of monohydroxybenzo- [a]pyrene isomers (21) Methylbenzo[a]pyrene isomers (34)	
BPhBT + N,N'-bis(<i>p</i> -hexy- loxybenzylidene)- α_{x}^{α} -bi- <i>p</i> -toluidine (1:1)				Glass, 1.5×2	120-255	14 polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (59) 10 polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (59)	221
N,N'-Bis(p-butoxybenzylide- ne)-a;a'-bi-p-toluidine (BBBT)	159 1	88	303	1.2 × 3	190-265	28 polycyclic aromatic hydro- carbons in benzene extract of coal fly ash (65)	
Bis(4'-ethyldiphenylidene)- 1,2-di(4-aminophenyl)ethane	234 2	82	400	Steel, 2×2.2	285	10 polycyclic aromatic hydro- carbons (25)	226

IABLE 2 (continued)							
Stationary phase	Transition to phase (1 temperatu °C)	e.	Column (m × mm I.D.)	Temperature of column	Separated substances and separation time (min)	Ref.
	Smectic	Nematic	Isotropic				
						Anthracene oil (phenanthrene, anthracene, fluoranthene, pyrene, chrysene, benzo[e]pyre- ne nervlene henzoldinvrene) (25)	- ,
4'-(<i>trans</i> -4-Propylcyclohexyl)- 4-biphenylcarboxylic acid 4'-(<i>trans</i> -4-pentylcyclohexyl)-4-bip	200 he-	224	462	2 × 2.2	290	<i>p-5-(cis/trans-4</i> -Pentylcyclohexyl)- <i>p-5-(cis/trans-4</i> -Pentylcyclohexyl)- 2-pyrimidinylbenzonitrile (16)	228
4'(<i>trans</i> -4-Pentylcyclohexyl)- 4'-biphenylcarboxylic acid <i>trans</i> -4-(<i>p</i> -cyanophenyl) cyclohexy	-	148.6	347	2×2.2	150	Methyl oleate (Z)-isomer and methyl elaidate (E)-isomer (21)	
uster 4-pentylcyclohexyl)-4-bi- phenylyl)ethylJcyclohexyl 4-binbenvlarhonitrile		194.5	440	2 × 2.2	230300	Phenanthrene, anthracene, fluoran- thene, pyrene, benz[<i>a</i>]anthracene, chrysene, benzo[<i>b</i>]fluoranthene, benzol&fl]huoranthene, benzol/a/hyrene (28)	
Polymer	195		265	Glass, 1.7×4	230	Benzene, naphthalene, diphenyl, acenaph- thene, fluorene, phenanthrene, anthracene, fluorenthene, pyrena (2))	
Bis(4'-ethyldiphenylidene)- 1.2-di(4-aminophenyl)ethane	234	282	400	Glass, 1.1×4	238	11 polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (12)	231
					282	11 polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (10)	

Z. WITKIEWICZ

TABLE 2 (continued)

74

Bis(4'-penthyldiphenylidene)-	130		387	Glass, I.I×4	316	11 polycyclic aromatic	
1,2-di(4-aminophenyl)ethane						hydrocarbons (7)	
Polysiloxanes	43		177			Xylene isomers	239
•	75		176			Xylene isomers	
	67		156			Xylene isomers	
BPhBT		257	403			Chrysene, benzo[a]pyrene,	240
						benzo[e]pyrene, benz[a]anthracene	
Polysiloxane		139	319	Glass, 15 × 0.25	180	Fluorene, phenanthrene,	30
×						anthracene (3.5)	
					235	Fluoranthene, pyrene, 1,2- and 2,3-benzo-	
						fluorene, triphenylene, benz[a]anthracene,	
						chrysene (9.5)	
					275	Benzo[b]fluoranthene, benzo[k]fluoranthene,	
						benzo[e]pyrene, perylene, benzo[a]pyrene (11)	
					140-280	17 polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (54)	
Hexapentyloxytriphenylene			118	Glass, 2.1×4	- 70	Heptane, octane, nonane, p - and	56
(disc-like from 65°C)						o-xylene, undecane (29)	
					78	Cyclooctene, cyclooctane, cyclooctatetraene,	
						cyclooctadiene (17)	
Triphenylene hexa-4-octyl-			206	Glass, 2.1 × 4	198	trans- and cis-decalin,	
benzoate (disc-like from						tetralin, naphthalene, diphenyl (12)	
137°C)							

^a A few examples of very good separations of polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons mixtures by gas chromatography on BPhBT (SP-301) liquid crystal stationary phase are given in Supelco Bulletin 773D (1983). Four excellent chromatograms of androstanol and androstanediol and -triol isomers and also estrogens and sulphur-containing polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons are shown in refs. 270 and 271. The chromatograms were obtained by supercritical fluid chromatography.



Fig. 15. Separation of alkylbenzenes on 4-*n*-pentylacetophenone (O-4-*n*-ethyloxybenzoyl oxime) in a glass capillary column (48 m × 0.25 mm I.D.) at 40°C. 1 = Methane; 2 = benzene; 3 = toluene; 4 = ethylbenzene; 5 = *m*-xylene; 6 = *p*-xylene; 7 = isopropylbenzene; 8 = *o*-xylene; 9 = *n*-propylbenzene; 10 = styrene⁹⁵.

ena. It is intriguing, for instance, why an increase in temperature improves the separation of the isomers, as this conflicts with the properties of liquid crystal stationary phases observed in gas chromatography, where the best separations are obtained at a temperature several degrees above the liquid crystal melting point.

The results obtained of applying liquid crystals in column liquid chromatography are promising although not necessarily related to their liquid crystal properties. The observations made require conformation and complementing, however. Further studies are also required. The use of siloxane polymers as column fillings seems interesting. Such polymers should be obtained by bonding the monomeric liquid crystal with the surface of silica. Suitable reagents that would allow such polymers to be obtained are under investigation³⁰.



Fig. 16. Separation of hydrocarbon mixture on bis(4'-ethyldiphenylidene)-1,2-di(4-aminophenyl)ethane deposited in an amount of 5% on Chromaton N AW DMCS. Glass column (1.1 m × 4 mm I.D.); column temperature, 282°C. 1 = Benzene; 2 = phenanthrene; 3 = anthracene; 4 = fluoranthene; 5 = pyrene; 6 = triphenylene; 7 = 1,2-benzanthracene; 8 = chrysene; 9 = naphthacene; 10 = perylene; 11 = 3,4-benzopyrene²³¹.



Fig. 17. Separation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons on polysiloxane liquid crystalline stationary phase in a Pyrex glass column (15 m \times 0.25 mm I.D.); column temperature, 140°C for 3 min, 140–280°C at 4°C/min. 1 = Fluorene; 2 = phenanthrene; 3 = anthracene; 4 = fluoranthene; 5 = pyrene; 6 = 1,2benzofluorene; 7 = 2,3-benzofluorene; 8 = triphenylene; 9 = benz[a]anthracene; 10 = chrysene; 11 = benzo[b]fluoranthene; 12 = benzo[k]fluoranthene; 13 = benzo[e]pyrene; 14 = perylene; 15 = benzo[a]pyrene; 16 = 1,2,3,4-dibenzanthracene; 17 = benzo[ghi]perylene³⁰.

6.2. Thin-layer chromatography

Liquid crystals may be used in liquid crystal detectors for visualizing thin-layer chromatograms^{243–246}. Until recently, liquid crystal detectors were used for detecting air pollutants²⁴⁷. Their practical value is small, however, as they are not selective. The good detectability and short response time are advantages, and the lack of selectivity presents no obstacle in using liquid crystal detectors for detecting the components on a chromatographic plate after their separation.

Liquid crystals may be used to detect various substances as their properties are changed by those substances. A small amount of the admixture disturbs the order of the liquid crystal structure, and a large amount of a foreign substance destroys that structure completely and the liquid crystal is converted to the isotropic liquid. The amount of the admixture that destroys the ordered structure of the mesophase is the



Fig. 18. Chromatograms of nitrotoluene isomers (1 = ortho; 2 = meta; 3 = para) at different temperatures. Column, 40% cholesteryl oleate on Silasorb-600, 5 μ m (10 cm × 0.4 mm I.D.); eluent, hexane at a flow-rate of 1.5 cm³/min²⁴¹.

smaller the closer the temperature at which this occurs is to the liquid crystal clearing point. The changes in the ordering of the liquid crystal structure affect the physicochemical properties, *e.g.*, optical, of the liquid crystal. These changes are greatest on transition from the mesophase to the isotropic liquid. The detector is therefore so designed (the liquid crystal is so selected) that the transition to the isotropic liquid is produced by the least possible amounts of the substances to be detected.

A liquid crystal detector may be produced by impregnating the pores of porous foil with a nematic liquid crystal^{243,244}. The foil may have a thickness of 0.12 μ m and a pore diameter of 0.12 – 0.15 μ m, the surface pore density being, *e.g.*, 4.5%. The detector, when observed in polarized light, has a characteristic colour. Its intensity and homogeneity depend on the thickness of the liquid crystal layer (*i.e.*, on the foil thickness) and on the diameter and surface density of the pores.

In order to detect a substance on the chromatographic plate a detector is used with dimensions the same as those of the plate. After developing the chromatogram in any chromatographic chamber, the plate is sprinkled with water. Next the liquid crystal detector is placed on the chromatographic plate and pressed to the plate at a pressure of 0.3 - 0.4 MPa for 1-2 min. Such conditions are optimal for obtaining good mapping of the chromatogram on the detector²⁴⁵. The detector is pressed to the plate in a chromatographic pressure chamber²⁴⁸ or in a special device of similar design²⁴⁵. It is recommended, however, that devices be used in which the pressure is exerted on the detector and plate by means of compressed gas. In such devices the required pressure is achieved much quicker than in devices in which water is used as the pressure medium. The best contact between the detector and chromatographic plate is ensured if an elastic foil is used as the pressure transfer medium.

The sprinkling of the adsorbate with water prevents the transfer of the liquid crystal from the foil to the adsorbent and facilitates the migration of the substances to be detected to the liquid crystal in the foil.

After the detector has been removed from the chromatographic plate it is placed between crossed polarizers, when spots of different colours than that of the detector become distinctly visible. These spots correspond to the spots on the chromatographic plate as regards shape and position.

The detectability of the chromatographed substances depends primarily on their solubility in the liquid crystal, the detectability being better the greater is the solubility. Some pesticides may be detected in a chromatographic plate in amounts of $10^{-7} - 10^{-8}$ g in the spot. This detectability is better than or comparable to that achieved by other methods. Liquid crystal detectors allow compounds to be visualized that cannot be detected at the required low level by a colour reaction or UV radiation. The sensitivity of the liquid crystal detector depends on the kind of liquid crystal used (the best are nematics), its clearing point, temperature and the kind of substance to be detected.

Thin-layer chromatograms should be visualized at ambient temperature. From the characteristics of liquid crystal detectors it follows that these detectors are most sensitive at temperatures close to the clearing point of the liquid crystals used. The clearing points of the liquid crystals used in the detectors should therefore lie in the range 295–305 K. In addition to single liquid crystals, their mixtures may also be used. In some instances it is advisable to heat the liquid crystal detector to increase its sensitivity. At the maximum sensitivity of the detector the spot of the detected substance has a diameter 1-2 mm greater than that detected by usual chemical methods.

The liquid crystal detector makes it possible to determine the amount of a substance in a chromatographic spot. Advantage is taken here of the linear variation of the clearing point of the liquid crystal with the amount of the isotropic substance (to be determined) dissolved in the mesophase. This relationship may serve as a means for determining the distribution of the concentration of the substance in the spot or the apparent better separation of the detector the sites of greatest concentration of the chromatographed substance, *i.e.*, the centres of the spots, appear first. The connection and subsequent spreading of the spots proceeds as the sensitivity of the detector increases and sites of low concentration of the substance to be detected are revealed.

In the course of detection only part of the substance to be detected passes from the adsorbent (chromatographic plate) to the foil saturated with the liquid crystal. Hence it is possible to repeat the visualization of one chromatogram several times. When the chromatogram is visualized by the liquid crystal method, the chromatographic plate does not become contaminated and the substances being determined do not undergo chemical conversion. The method is therefore suitable for visualizing chromatograms in preparative thin-layer chromatography.

The chromatographic plate visualized by means of a liquid crystal detector may be used several times after regeneration with a solvent of high eluting power, preferably in a pressure or continuous flow chamber.

The use of liquid crystal detectors for visualizing chromatograms allows the wide laboratory application of plates with adsorbents of various colours and not only the white type that were used almost exclusively hitherto. One can mention here, for instance, various carbon adsorbents differing considerably in their properties from the white type and also between each other. At least some of them may be suitable for thin-layer chromatography.

The liquid crystal visualization method has several advantages over the method of visualizing chromatograms on carbon plates advanced by Prochazka and Star-ka²⁴⁹, who used aluminium plates with a silica gel layer on which the spots were mapped and detected by a conventional method. The latter method is less sensitive and slower than the liquid crystal method.

7. FINAL REMARKS

The publications discussed in this review show that the application of liquid crystals in chromatography is an important development. Despite the opinions of some sceptics the liquid crystals now have a static position in chromatographic practice, I am convinced that developments in this field will continue rapidly. We now have at our disposal a wide range of liquid crystals which have not yet been tested as stationary phases. Some of them seem very promising in this respect. New liquid crystals are continuously becoming available and I believe that the best of them are yet to come.

So far only thermotropic liquid crystals have been used as stationary phases in chromatography, and no use has been made of lyotropic liquid crystals. The application of lyotropic liquid crystals as stationary phases seems promising as it has been shown that gas chromatography may be used for determining the phase diagrams of these liquid crystals²⁵⁰.

It has been suggested that, analogously to conventional isotropic stationary phases, colloidal stationary phases including a liquid crystal as a component could be used. These colloidal phases make it possible to control the sorptive capacity and the general selectivity of chromatographic columns over a wide range. This is due to the change in the contribution of dissolution to the adsorption ratio at the phase boundaries in the general retention of chromatographed substances. The colloidal stationary phases include mineral filling agents which adversely affect the ordering of the mesophase structure and hence the selectivity of the liquid crystal stationary phase. This decrease in selectivity varies, however, depending on the kind of liquid crystal (probably depending chiefly on its molecular structure). The efficiencies of columns with colloidal stationary phases including liquid crystals are higher than those of columns with normal liquid crystal stationary phases. As the above information was taken from the only paper so far published on this subject²⁵¹, further research is necessary to improve our knowledge of colloidal liquid crystal stationary phases and especially to allow some generalizations regarding their properties and practical usefulness.

From this review of studies published in recent years it can be seen that work dealing directly or indirectly with the use of liquid crystals in chromatographic practice for separating multi-component mixtures has dominated. Much less attention has been devoted to the testing of liquid crystals by gas chromatography. Only one paper reported studies of the thermotropic properties of polymeric liquid crystals by reversed-phase gas chromatography²⁵².

Investigations on the use of liquid crystals for visualizing thin-layer chromatograms have hardly been started and there is a lot to be done in this respect. It remains to be established whether the liquid crystal method of detection in thin-layer chromatography is of real practical use and what its range of applicability is. There are probably other possibilities of utilizing liquid crystals in chromatography.

Some work, mainly by Chinese authors, has not been considered in this survey $^{253-269}$.

8. SUMMARY

On the basis of the literature published since 1982, the applications of liquid crystals in chromatography are reviewed. The properties are described of new liquid crystals that may be used as stationary phases in gas chromatography; the most important in this group are liquid crystal siloxane polymers, followed by isothiocyanate liquid crystals and disc-like liquid crystals. The properties are discussed of conventional and capillary columns in which liquid crystal stationary phases are applied and the effects are considered of various factors that influence the separation of components of mixtures on these stationary phases. Among these factors, the effects of the kind of mesophase of the liquid crystal used, the structure of the liquid crystal molecule and that of the chromatographed substance and the constitution of the surface of the substrate (support, wall of the capillary column) on which the liquid crystal has been deposited are given special consideration. A large part of the review is devoted to practical applications of liquid crystal stationary phases, examples being given of separations of isomers of benzene and naphthalene derivatives, of polycyclic hydrocrabons and of other compounds. Attention is drawn to the possibility of using liquid crystals, apart from in gas chromatography, also in liquid chromatography and especially in thin-layer chromatography for visualizing the chromatograms.

NOTE ADDED IN PROOF

Recently, various articles on liquid crystals in chromatography appeared²⁷²⁻²⁷⁴.

REFERENCES

- 1 Z. Witkiewicz, J. Chromatogr., 251 (1982) 311.
- 2 A. Mierzwiński and Z. Witkiewicz, Chem. Anal. (Warsaw), 30 (1985) 429.
- 3 A. Mierzwiński and Z. Witkiewicz, Talanta, 34 (1987) 865.
- 4 A. Mierzwiński and Z. Witkiewicz, Chem. Anal. (Warsaw), 34 (1989).
- 5 P. M. Knoll and H. Kelker, Otto Lehmann Erforscher der flüssigen Kristalle, Ettlingen, Frankfurt, 1988.
- 6 H. Finkelmann, Angew. Chem., 27 (1988) 987.
- 7 D. Erdmann, Kontakte, No. 2 (1988) 3.
- 8 H. Falk and P. Lagner, Oesterr. Chem. Z., 89 (1988) 251.
- 9 G. H. Brown, J. Chem. Educ., 60 (1983) 900.
- 10 C. Destrade, H. Gasparoux, P. Foucher, Nguyen Huu Tinh, J. Malthete and J. Jacques, J. Chim. Phys., 80 (1983) 37.
- 11 R. S. McEwen, J. Phys. E, 20 (1987) 364.
- 12 W. Wacławek and J. Szczerbaniewicz, Zesz. Nauk. Wyzsz. Szk. Pedagog. Opolu, 8 (1987) 45.
- 13 G. Chiavari, Chim. Ind. (Milan), 65 (1983) 768.
- 14 A. Ono, Mem. Fac. Educ. Niigata Univ., Niigata Daigaku Kyoikugakubu Kiyo Shizen Kagaku Hen, 25 (1984) 79.
- 15 H. Kelker, in Proceedings of the Sino-West German Symposium on Chromatography, Science Press, Beijing, 1983, p. 58.
- 16 R. E. Clement, F. I. Onuska, F. J. Yang, G. A. Eiceman and H. H. Hill, Jr., Anal. Chem., 58 (1986) 321R.
- 17 F. W. Karasek, F. I. Onuska, F. J. Yang and R. E. Clement, Anal. Chem., 56 (1984) 174R.
- 18 R. E. Clement, F. I. Onuska, G. A. Eiceman and H. H. Hill, Jr. Anal. Chem., 60 (1988) 279R.
- 19 E. Šmolková-Keulemansová and L. Soják, in W. L. Hinze and D. W. Armstrong (Editors), Ordered Media in Chemical Separations, (ACS Symposium Series, Vol. 342), Washington, DC, 1987, p. 247.
- 20 V. G. Berezkin and V. N. Retunski, Zh. Anal. Khim., 43 (1988) 166.
- 21 Proceedings of the 12th International Liquid Crystal Conference, August 15–19, 1988, Freiburg (F.R.G.)
- 22 Abstracts of Papers, 17th International Symposium on Chromatography, September 25–30, 1988, Vienna (Austria).
- 23 R. Dąbrowski, Przem. Chem., 65 (1986) 461.
- 24 I. Rudnicka and Z. Witkiewicz, Polimery, 31 (1986) 291.
- 25 Ch. A. Rouse, A. C. Finlinson, B. J. Tarbet, J. C. Pixton, N. M. Djordjevic, K. E. Markides, J. S. Bradshaw and M. L. Lee, *Anal. Chem.*, 60 (1988) 901.
- 26 J. K. Haken, J. Chromatogr., 300 (1984) 1.
- 27 J. A. Yancey, J. Chromatogr. Sci., 23 (1985) 161.
- 28 K. E. Markides, H. C. Chang, C. M. Schregenberger, B. J. Tarbet, J. S. Bradshaw and M. L. Lee, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun., 8 (1985) 516.
- 29 B. A. Jones, J. S. Bradshaw, M. Nishioka and M. L. Lee, J. Org. Chem., 49 (1984) 4947.
- 30 M. A. Apfel, H. Finkelmann, G. M. Janini, R. J. Laub, B. H. Luhmann, A. Price, W. L. Roberts, T. J. Shaw and C. A. Smith, *Anal. Chem.*, 57 (1985) 651.
- 31 K. E. Markides, M. Nishioka, B. J. Tarbet, J. S. Bradshaw and M. L. Lee, Anal. Chem., 57 (1985) 1296.
- 32 J. S. Bradshaw, Ch. Schregenberger, K. H.-C. Chang, K. E. Markides and M. L. Lee, J. Chromatogr., 358 (1986) 95.

- 33 M. Nishioka, B. A. Jones, B. J. Tarbet, J. S. Bradshaw and M. L. Lee, J. Chromatogr., 357 (1986) 79.
- 34 W. Caseri, T. Sauer and C. Wegner, Makromol. Chem., Rapid Commun., 9 (1988) 651.
- 35 K. P. Naikwadi, A. L. Jadhav, S. Rokushika, H. Hatano and M. Ohshima, Makromol. Chem., 187 (1986) 1407.
- 36 A. Ziółek, R. Dąbrowski and Z. Witkiewicz, Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst., 109 (1984) 107.
- 37 R. Dąbrowski, J. Dziaduszek, T. Szczuciński, Z. Stolarzowa and K. Czupryński, Liq. Cryst., 4 (1989) 2.
- 38 R. Dąbrowski, Przem. Chem., 68 (1989).
- 39 S. Chandrasekhar, B. K. Sadashiva and K. A. Suresh, Pramana, 9 (1977) 471.
- 40 K. Nishimura, S. Takenaka and S. Kusabayashi, Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst., 104 (1984) 347.
- 41 S. Takenaka, K. Nishimura and S. Kusabayashi, Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst., 111 (1984) 227.
- 42 Nguyen Huu Tinh, M. C. Bernaud, G. Sigaud and C. Destrade, Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst., 65 (1981) 307.
- 43 Nguyen Huu Tinh, H. Gasparoux and C. Destrade, Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst., 68 (1981) 101.
- 44 P. Foucher, C. Destrade, Nguyen Huu Tinh, J. Malthete and A. M. Levelut, *Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst.*, 108 (1984) 219.
- 45 Nguyen Huu Tinh, R. Cayuela, C. Destrade, J. Malthete, Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst., 122 (1985) 141.
- 46 J. Billard, J. C. Dubois, C. Vaucher and A. M. Levelut, Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst., 66 (1981) 115.
- 47 C. Carfagna, A. Roviello and A. Sirigu, Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst., 122 (1985) 151.
- 48 R. Fugnitto, H. Strzelecka, A. Zann, J. C. Dubois, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun., (1980) 271.
- 49 J. C. Dubois and J. Billard, in A. C. Griffin and J. F. Johnson (Editors), Liquid Crystals and Ordered Fluids, Plenum Press, New York-London, 1984, p.1043.
- 50 D. M. Kok, H. Wynberg and W. H. De Jeu, Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst., 129 (1985) 53.
- 51 C. Piechocki, J. Simon, A. Skoulios, D. Guillon and P. Weber, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 104 (1982) 5245.
- 52 D. Guillon, A. Skoulios, C. Piechocki, J. Simon and P. Weber, Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst., 100 (1983) 275.
- 53 C. Destrade, Nguyen Huu Tinh, H. Gasparoux and L. Mamlok, Liq. Cryst., 2 (1987) 229.
- 54 Von W. Poules and K. Praefcke, Chem. Ztg., 107 (1983) 310.
- 55 G. Wenz, Makromol. Chem., Rapid. Commun., 6 (1985) 577.
- 56 Z. Witkiewicz, J. Szulc and R. Dąbrowski, J. Chromatogr., 315 (1984) 145.
- 57 Z. Witkiewicz and B. Goca, J. Chromatogr., 402 (1987) 73.
- 58 C. Destrade, H. Gasparoux, A. Babeau, Nguyen Huu Tinh and J. Malthete, *Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst.*, 67 (1981) 37.
- 59 S. Chandrasekhar, Indian J. Pure Appl. Phys., 19 (1981) 769.
- 60 C. Destrade, Nguyen Huu Tinh, H. Gasparoux, J. Malthete and A. M. Levelut, Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst., 71 (1981) 111.
- 61 D. Demus and H. Zaschke, Flüssige Kristalle in Tabellen, Vol. 2, VEB Deutscher Verlag für Grundstoffindustrie, Leipzig, 1974.
- 62 V. G. Berezkin and A. A. Korolev, J. Chromatogr., 440 (1988) 323.
- 63 V. Borek, J. Hubacek and V. Rehakova, Chem. Listy, 79 (1985) 364.
- 64 B. Xu and N. P. E. Vermeulen, J. Chromatogr., 445 (1988) 1.
- 65 L. S. Ettre, Introduction to Open Tubular Columns, Perkin-Elmer, Norwalk, CT, 1983.
- 66 T. Kreczmer and A. Gutorska, Chem. Anal. (Warsaw), 30 (1985) 419.
- 67 R. C. Kong, M. L. Lee, Y. Tominaga, R. Pratap, M.Iwao and R. N. Castle, Anal. Chem., 54 (1982) 1802.
- 68 R. C. Kong, M. L. Lee, Y. Tominaga, R. Pratap, M. Iwao, R. N. Castle and S. A. Wise, J. Chromatogr. Sci., 20 (1982) 502.
- 69 T. Tęcza, D. Ciecierska-Stokłosa, K. Gorczyńska, A. Utnik, T. Kreczmer, B. Wróblewska, M. Gluzińska and J. Muszyński, *Koks Smola Gaz*, 32 (1987) 58.
- 70 J. Szulc, Z. Witkiewicz and A. Ziòłek, J. Chromatogr., 262 (1983) 161.
- 71 N. T. Karabanov, Z. P. Vetrova, L. A. Ivanova and T. N. Shuvalova, Zavod. Lab., 53, No. 7 (1987) 20.
- 72 L. Zoccolillo, L. Liberti, F. Coccioli and M. Ronchetti, J. Chromatogr., 288 (1984) 347.
- 73 L. Zoccolillo, G. Goretti and I. Di Iorio, Ann. Chim., 71 (1981) 535.
- 74 K. V. Jegorova and M. S. Vigdergauz, Zh. Fiz. Khim., 40 (1985) 2774.
- 75 V. A. Shcheglova, M. S. Vigdergauz and V. I. Romanova, Zh. Anal. Khim., 43 (1988) 333.
- 76 D. G. Panse, S. M. Likhite, B. V. Bapat and B. B. Chatge, J. Chromatogr., 264 (1983) 279.
- 77 G. Chiavań, L. Pastorelli and G. Perrakis, Talanta, 33 (1986) 979.
- 78 M. Pietrzyk and Z. Witkiewicz, Biul. Wojsk. Akad. Tech., 28, No. 8 (1979) 153.

- 79 J. Szulc and Z. Witkiewicz, J. Chromatogr., 262 (1983) 141.
- 80 L. G. Blomberg, Trends Anal. Chem., 6 (1987) 41.
- 81 A. A. Fedjanin, V. P. Sokolov and T. N. Shabalina, Neftepererab. Neftekhim (Moscow), No. 2 (1984) 29.
- 82 N. T. Sultanov, T. G. Andronikashvili and K. G. Markarjan, in A. Yu. Krupiennikova (Editor), Gazovaja Chromatografia, Mecnereba. Tbilisi, 1982, p. 73.
- 83 J. Krupčik, D. Repka, T. Hevesi and J. Mocák, J. Chromatogr., 355 (1986) 99.
- 84 F. Janssen, Chromatographia, 17 (1983) 477.
- 85 Z. Suprynowicz, W. M. Buda, M. Mardarowicz and Z. Witkiewicz, Chromatographia, 19 (1984) 418.
- 86 L. Soják, G. Kraus, P. Farkaš and I. Ostrovský, J. Chromatogr., 238 (1982) 51.
- 87 E. Matišová, D. Hudec, J. Garaj, G. Kraus, M. Schierhorn and A. Isenberg, *Chromatographia*, 20 (1985) 601.
- 88 G. Kraus, Habilitation Thesis, Martin Luther University, Halle, 1983.
- 89 H. Moser and H. Arm, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun., 7 (1984) 637.
- 90 T. G. Andronikashvili, L. G. Arustamova, N. T. Sultanov and K. G. Markarjan, Zhidkije Kristally w Kapillarnoj Chromatografii, Mecnereba, Tbilisi, 1982.
- 91 N. T. Sultanov, K. G. Markarjan, L. G. Arustamova and T. G. Andronikashvili, in M. G. Tolstikova (Editor), *Gazovaja Chromatografia*, Mecnereba, Tbilisi, 1986, p. 24.
- 92 L. Soják, P. Farkaš and I. Ostrovský, Ropa Uhlie, 25 (1983) 102.
- 93 L. Soják, G. Kraus, P. Farkaš and I. Ostrovský, J. Chromatogr., 249 (1982) 29.
- 94 L. Soják, G. Kraus, P. Farkaš and I. Ostrovský, J. Chromatogr., 294 (1984) 155.
- 95 L. Soják, G. Kraus and I. Ostrovský, J. Chromatogr., 323 (1985) 414.
- 96 L. Soják, Ropa Uhlie, 28 (1986) 405.
- 97 L. Soják. I. Ostrovský, P. Farkaš and J. Janák, J. Chromatogr., 356 (1986) 105.
- 98 L. Soják, I. Ostrovský, G. Kraus and T. G. Andronikashvili, J. Chromatogr., 436 (1988) 47.
- 99 G. M. Janini, G. M. Muschik, H. J. Issag and R. J. Laub, Anal. Chem., 60 (1988) 1119.
- 100 J. Mazur, Z. Witkiewicz and R. Dabrowski, Biul. Wojsk. Akad. Tech., 37, No. 9 (1988) 33.
- 101 J. Mazur, Z. Witkiewicz and R. Dąbrowski, J. Chromatogr., 455 (1988) 323.
- 102 D. E. Martire, J. Chromatogr., 406 (1987) 27.
- 103 M. Swerev and K. Ballschmiter, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun., 10 (1987) 544.
- 104 G. Pelzl, U. Bottger and D. Demus, Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst., 64 (1981) 283.
- 105 K. Pyc, Doctoral Thesis, Military Technical Academy, Warsaw, 1987.
- 106 Nguyen Huu Tinh, P. Foucher, C. Destrade, A. M. Levelut and J. Malthete, Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst., 111 (1984) 277.
- 107 Z. P. Vetrova, N. T. Karabanov, L. A. Ivanova, O. B. Akopova, G. T. Maidatshenko and Ya. I. Yashin, Zh. Obshch. Khim., 57 (1987) 646.
- 108 S. Sakagami, J. Chromatogr., 246 (1982) 121.
- 109 G. Kraus, Tran thi Hong Van and W. Weissflog, Z. Chem., 22 (1982) 448.
- 110 N. T. Karabanov, Z. P. Vetrova, L. A. Ivanova, N. M. Olefirenko and A. Yu. Devjatjarov, Zh. Anal. Khim., 39 (1984) 749.
- 111 G. V. Dimitreva and R. K. Gabitova, Usp. Gaz. Kromatogr., 6 (1982) 180.
- 112 G. S. Fedchenko, M. S. Vigdergauz and T. M. Lesteva, Zavod. Lab., 54, No. 3 (1988) 22.
- 113 Z. P. Vetrova, N. T. Karabanov, T. N. Shuvalova, G. G. Maidachenko and Ya. I. Yashin, Kolloidn. Zh., 46 (1984) 1015.
- 114 D. G. Panse, B. V. Bapat and B. B. Ghatge, J. Chromatogr., 284 (1984) 242.
- 115 D. G. Panse, A. Bhale, V. K. Gumaste, M. V. Mane, S. M. Likhite and B. V. Bapat, J. Chromatogr., 411 (1987) 456.
- 116 J. Szulc and Z. Witkiewicz, Biul. Wojsk. Akad. Tech., 32, No. 2 (1983) 41.
- 117 V. A. Smirnov, I. A. Ovechkin and N. B. Kuznecova, Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Khim. Khim. Teknol., 28, No. 10 (1985) 69.
- 118 J. Szulc and Z. Witkiewicz, Wiad. Chem., 36 (1982) 315.
- 119 J. Szulc and Z. Witkiewicz, Biul. Wojsk. Akad. Tech., 30, No. 9 (1981) 59.
- 120 J. Szulc and Z. Witkiewicz, Biul. Wojsk. Akad. Tech., 31, No. 6 (1982) 53.
- 121 J. Szulc, Z. Witkiewicz and R. Dąbrowski, Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst., 109 (1984) 125.
- 122 I. A. Ovechkin, Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Khim. Khim. Teknol., 29, No. 3 (1986) 115.
- 123 J. Szulc, Doctoral Thesis, Military Technical Academy, Warsaw, 1982.
- 124 M. S. Vigdergauz and A. V. Bulanova, Zh. Anal. Khim., 43 (1988) 102.

- 125 G. A. Krestov, V. I. Vinogradov, Yu. M. Kessler, V. K. Abrosimov, A. M. Kolker, A. I. Mishustin and A. I. Pirogov, in B. D. Berezin (Editor), *Sovremiennye Problemy Khimii Rastvorov*, Nauka, Moscow, 1986, p. 218.
- 126 O. A. Shcherbakova, V. A. Smirnov and V. V. Shergin, Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Khim. Khim. Teknol., 29, No. 6 (1986) 43.
- 127 A. I. Pirogov and I. V. Novikov, Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Khim. Khim. Teknol., 30, No. 10 (1987) 56.
- 128 A. I. Pirogov and I. V. Novikov, *Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Khim. Khim. Teknol.*, 30, No. 10 (1987) 63.
- 129 A. I. Pirogov and N. B. Kodabakas, Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Khim. Khim. Teknol., 30, No. 8 (1987) 40.
- 130 J. F. Bocquet and C. Pommier, J. Chromatogr., 261 (1983) 11.
- 131 M. S. Vigdergauz, K. V. Egorova, N. F. Belaev, V. A. Shcheglova and V. I.Romanova, Kolloidn. Zh., 50 (1988) 343.
- 132 L. M. Blinov, M. F. Grebyonkin and O. A. Korzan, Z. Chem., 26 (1986) 23.
- 133 H.-J. Moegel, G. Kraus and M. Novak, J. Chromatogr., 324 (1985) 29.
- 134 C. A. Rouse and W. E. Acree, Jr., J. Chromatogr., 357 (1986) 33.
- 135 J. Coca, I. Medina and S. H. Langer, Chromatographia, 25 (1988) 825.
- 136 V. A. Smirnov, O. A. Shcherbakova, *Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Khim. Khim. Teknol.*, 29, No. 7 (1986) 131.
- 137 L. V. Rjazanova, V. F. Novikov, G. G. Maidatchenko and M. S. Vigdergauz, Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Khim. Khim. Teknol., 31, No. 2 (1988) 47.
- 138 Z. Witkiewicz, H. Grajek and J. Szulc, J. Chromatogr., 312 (1984) 141.
- 139 E. Matišova, G. Kraus and A. Kraus, J. Chromatogr., 439 (1988) 381.
- 140 A. Isenberg, G. Kraus and H. Zaschke, J. Chromatogr., 292 (1984) 67.
- 141 A. Ziółek, Z. Witkiewicz and R. Dąbrowski, Biul. Wojsk. Akad. Tech., 33, No. 3 (1984) 23.
- 142 A. Ziółek, Z. Witkiewicz and R. Dąbrowski, J. Chromatogr., 294 (1984) 139.
- 143 A. Ziółek, Z. Witkiewicz and R. Dąbrowski, Biul. Wojsk. Akad. Tech., 33, No. 9 (1984) 71.
- 144 A. Ziółek, Z. Witkiewicz and R. Dąbrowski, J. Chromatogr., 299 (1984) 159.
- 145 A. L. Jadhav, K. P. Naikwadi, S. Rokushika, H. Hatano and M. Ohshima, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun., 10 (1987) 77.
- 146 Z. Suprynowicz, W. M. Buda, M. Mardarowicz and A. Patrykiejew, J. Chromatogr., 333 (1985) 11.
- 147 H. Lamparczyk, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun., 8 (1985) 90.
- 148 H. Lamparczyk, R. Kaliszan and A. Radecki, J. Chromatogr., 361 (1986) 442.
- 149 Z. Suprynowicz, W. M.Buda, M. Mardarowicz and A. Patrykiejew, J. Chromatogr., 361 (1986) 445.
- 150 R. R. Heath and R. E. Doolittle, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun., 6 (1983) 16.
- 151 B. Wroński, L. M. Szczepaniak and Z. Witkiewicz, J. Chromatogr., 364 (1986) 53.
- 152 R. E. Goozner and M. M. Labes, Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst., 56 (1979) 75.
- 153 T. Kościelski, D. Sybilska, J. Lipowski and A. Mediokritskaja, J. Chromatogr., 351 (1986) 512.
- 154 V. M. Navibatch, V. E. Vasiliev, Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Khim. Khim. Teknol., 30, No. 10 (1987) 72.
- 155 A. Voelkel, Chromatographia, 25 (1988) 95.
- 156 B. A. Altoiz and A. Yu. Popovski, Kolloidn. Zh., 49 (1987) 419.
- 157 V. G. Berezkin, Gazo-Zhidko-Tvierdofaznaya Chromatografiya, Khimia, Moscow, 1986.
- 158 H. Mada and S. Kobayashi, Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst., 66 (1981) 57.
- 159 Z. P. Vetrova, N. T. Karabanov, T. N. Shuvalova, L. A. Ivanova and Ya. I. Yashin, *Chromatographia*, 20 (1985) 41.
- 160 W. Marciniak and Z. Witkiewicz, J. Chromatogr., 324 (1985) 299.
- 161 W. Marciniak and Z. Witkiewicz, Biul. Wojsk. Akad. Tech., 35, No. 1 (1986) 105.
- 162 W. Marciniak and Z. Witkiewicz, J. Chromatogr., 324 (1985) 309.
- 163 W. Marciniak and Z. Witkiewicz, Biul. Wojsk. Akad. Tech., 35, No. 1 (1986) 117.
- 164 U. Riehle, J. Ehmann, M. Swerev and K. Ballschmiter, Fresenius Z. Anal. Chem., 331 (1988) 821.
- 165 W. Marciniak and Z. Witkiewicz, Biul. Wojsk. Akad. Tech., 35, No. 4 (1986) 37.
- 166 G. M. Janini and M. T. Ubeid, J. Chromatogr., 248 (1982) 217.
- 167 W. Marciniak, Doctoral Thesis, Military Technical Academy, Warsaw, 1984.
- 168 K. Watabe, T. Hobo and S. Suzuki, J. Chromatogr., 249 (1982) 209.
- 169 A. A. Fedianin, S. I. Kirsh, N. T. Karabanov and M. S. Vigdergauz, Usp. Gazov Kromatogr., 6 (1982) 186.

- 170 L. Soják, I. Ostrovský, P. Farkaš and P. Skalak, Ropa Uhlie, 25 (1983) 149.
- 171 N. B. Sepotko and A. G. Golokozova, Neftepererab. Neftekhim. (Moscow), No. 8 (1982) 38.
- 172 S. I. Kirsch, A. A. Fedianin and N. T. Karabanov, Zavod. Lab., 49, No. 12 (1983) 5.
- 173 L. Soják and I. Ostrovský, J. Chromatogr., 446 (1988) 339.
- 174 N. F. Belaev and M. S. Vigdergauz, Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Khim. Khim. Teknol., 31, No. 6 (1988) 68.
- 175 K. V. Yegorova, I. F. Belaev and M. S. Vigdergauz, Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Khim. Khim. Teknol., 28, No. 6 (1985) 3.
- 176 M. S. Vigdergauz, Zh. Anal. Khim., 39 (1984) 151.
- 177 L. A. Gribov, Yu. A. Zolotov, V. I. Kalmanovski, L. L. Kunin, Yu. M. Luzkov, A. A. Popov and V. S. Toroptsov, Zh. Anal. Khim., 37 (1982) 1104.
- 178 I. F. Belaev and M. S. Vigdergauz, Zh. Anal. Khim., 43 (1988) 867.
- 179 V. A. Kozlov, A. N. Ivanov and M. Yu. Yerykalov, Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Khim. Khim. Teknol.. 29, No. 1 (1986) 25.
- 180 P. P. Pawar, K. P. Naikwadi, S. M. Likhite, B. V. Bapat and B. B. Chatge, J. Chromatogr., 245 (1982) 57.
- 181 G.-C. Lin and C. A. Chang, J. Chromatogr., 409 (1987) 371.
- 182 N. T. Sultanov, T. G. Andronikashvili, K. G. Markarjan and L. G. Arustamova, Soobshch. Akad. Nauk. Gruz. SSR, 115 (1984) 549.
- 183 S. Sakagami, A. Takase, M. Nakamizo and S. Arita, Jpn. Pat., 61 266 955 (1986).
- 184 R.-N. Fu and F.-M. Xia, Sepu, 5 (1987) 43.
- 185 J. Gong, Sepu, 4 (1986) 222.
- 186 G. Chiavari and L. Pastorelli, J. Chromatogr., 262 (1983) 175.
- 187 K. P. Naikwadi, S. Rokushika, H. Hatano and M. Ohshima, J. Chromatogr., 331 (1985) 69.
- 188 L. Soják and T. G. Andronikashvili, Izv. Akad. Nauk Gruz. SSR, 11 (1985) 69.
- 189 G. Kraus and L Soják, D.D.R. Pat., 211 280, 1984.
- 190 N.T. Sultanov, V. S. Alev, K. G. Markarjan, T. G. Andronikashvili, L. G. Arustamowa and A. A. Kasimov, U.S.S.R. Pat., 989 474, 1983.
- 191 L. G. Arustamova, N. T. Sultanov, V. G. Berezkin, K. G. Markarjan and T. G. Andronikashvili, U.S.S.R. Pat., 989 473, 1983.
- 192 L. L. Soják, P. Farkaš, S. Rang and O. Eisen, J. Chromatogr., 287 (1984) 271.
- 193 P. E. Sonnet and R. R. Heath, J. Chromatogr., 321 (1985) 127.
- 194 A. Ono and Y. Masuda, Chromatographia, 17 (1983) 691.
- 195 L. N. Sharifianova, M. S. Vigdergauz, A. I. Trufanova and A. S. Sobolev, Zavod. Lab., 35, No. 4 (1987) 11.
- 196 K. Fujimura, M. Kitanaka, H. Takayanagi and T. Ando, Anal. Chem., 54 (1982) 918.
- 197 Z. Witkiewicz and W. Grochola, Biul. Wojsk. Akad. Tech., 32, No. 8 (1983) 103.
- 198 E. Tucek, H. D. Dinse, G. Kraus and M. Schierhorn, Acta Polym., 34 (1983) 224.
- 199 V. I. Pachomova and M. S. Vigdergauz, Zavod. Lab., 50, No. 6 (1984) 2.
- 200 V. I. Pachomova and M. S. Vigdergauz, Zavod. Lab., 51, No. 9 (1985) 17.
- 201 V. I. Pachomova and M. S. Vigdergauz, Zh. Anal. Khim., 39 (1984) 1524.
- 202 V. N. Retunskii, U.S.S.R. Pat., 1 068 808, 1984.
- 203 J. E. Haky, B. Leja and H. G. Schneider, J. Chromatogr., 264 (1983) 287.
- 204 I. P. Nesterova and T.K. Roska, U.S.S.R. Pat., 1 154 621, 1985.
- 205 E. Rachin, Izv. Khim., 21 (1988) 63.
- 206 M. Nishioka, M. L. Lee, H. Kudo, D. R. Muchiri, L. J. Baldwin, S. Pakray, J. G. Stuart and R. N. Castle, Anal. Chem., 57 (1985) 1327.
- 207 S. A. Wise, B. A. Brenner, G. D. Byrd, S. N. Chesler, R. E. Rebbert and M. M. Schantz, Anal. Chem., 60 (1988) 887.
- 208 K. P. Naikwadi and F. W. Karasek, J. Chromatogr., 369 (1986) 203.
- 209 S. A. Wise, L. C. Sander, H. Ch. K. Chang, K. E. Markides and M. L. Lee, Chromatographia, 25 (1988) 473.
- 210 K. P. Naikwadi, A. M. McGovern and F. W. Karasek, Can. J. Chem., 65 (1987) 970.
- 211 S. A. Wise, W. J. Bonnet, F. R. Guenther and W. E. May, J. Chromatogr. Sci., 19 (1981) 457.
- 212 S. Rokushika, K. P. Naikwadi, A. L. Jadhav and H. Hatano, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun., 8 (1985) 480.
- 213 S. Rokushika, K. P. Naikwadi, A. L. Jadhav and H. Hatano, Chromatographia, 22 (1986) 209.

- 214 C. M. White and R. K. Houck, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. Chromatogr. Commun., 9 (1986) 4.
- 215 J. D. Pinkston, Trends Anal. Chem., 7 (1988) 154.
- 216 P. R. Griffiths, Anal. Chem., 60 (1988) 593A.
- 217 H. M. Widmer, Chimia, 41 (1987) 402.
- 218 V. G. Berezkin and M. A. Koshevnik, Zavod. Lab., 53, No. 9 (1987) 2.
- 219 H. J. Issaq, G. M. Janini, B. Poehland. R. Shipe and G. M. Muschik, Chromatographia, 14 (1981) 655.
- 220 L. Zoccolillo, G. Goretti and M. Ronchetti, Chromatographia, 15 (1982) 757.
- 221 Y. Suzuki and S. Imai, Analyst, (London), 110 (1985) 907.
- 222 W. L. Zielinski, Jr., M. M. Miller, G. Ulma and S.P. Wasik. Anal. Chem., 58 (1986) 2692.
- 223 V. K. Srivastava, P. K. Srivastava and U. K. Misra, J. Toxicol. Environ. Health, 15 (1985) 333.
- 224 F. Janssen, Chromatographia, 15 (1982) 33.
- 225 K. Kubica and Z. Witkiewicz, Biul. Wojsk. Akad. Tech., 30, No. 7 (1981) 61.
- 226 K. Kubica, J. Jastrzębski, M. Wasik-Szczepanik and Z. Witkiewicz, Koks Smola Gaz, 31 (1986) 218.
- 227 K. Kubica and J. Jastrzębski, Koks Smola Gaz, 32 (1987) 211.
- 228 G. Oesterhelt and M. Petrzilka, U.S.A. Pat., 4 652 089, 1987.
- 229 Z. Witkiewicz and I. Rudnicka, Biul. Wojsk. Akad. Tech., 37, No. 1 (1988) 27.
- 230 Z. Witkiewicz and I. Rudnicka, Chem. Anal. (Warsaw), 33 (1988) 457.
- 231 Z. Witkiewicz, I. Rudnicka, J. Szulc and R. Dąbrowski, J. Chromatogr., 294 (1984) 127.
- 232 J. Mazur, Z. Witkiewicz and R.Dąbrowski, Biul. Wojsk. Akad. Tech., 37, No. 9 (1988) 49.
- 233 A. V. Reiter, V. P. Sevostyanov and O. V. Petrova, Zavod. Lab., 47, No. 4 (1981) 20.
- 234 A. V. Reiter, V. B. Kozevnikov and V. P. Sevostyanov, Zavod. Lab., 54, No. 6 (1988) 19.
- 235 T. I. Martin and W. E. Haas, Anal. Chem., 53 (1981) 593A.
- 236 B. I. Drevko, A. V. Reiter, V. P. Sevostyanow, L. A. Fomenko and V. G. Charchenko, Zavod. Lab., 48, No. 3 (1982) 19.
- 237 P. J. Schoenmakers, F. C. C. J. G. Verhoeven and H. M. van den Bogaert, J. Chromatogr., 371 (1986) 121.
- 238 N. F. Belaev and M. S. Vigdergauz, Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Khim. Khim. Teknol., 30, No. 6 (1987) 120.
- 239 G. Kraus, A. Kraus, B. Krucke and H. Zaschke, Z. Chem., 26 (1986) 66.
- 240 F. Valerio, P. Bottino and R. Cimberle, in A. Frigerio (Editor), Chromatography and Mass Spectrometry in Biomedical Sciences, 2 (Analytical Chemistry Symposia Series, Vol. 14), Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1983, p. 221.
- 241 A. A. Aratskova, Z. P. Vetrova and Ya. I. Yashin, J. Chromatogr., 365 (1986) 27.
- 242 A. G. Krestov and S. V. Kopytov, Izv. Vyssh. Uchebn. Zaved. Khim. Khim. Teknol., 29, No. 8 (1986) 115.
- 243 J. Błądek and Z. Witkiewicz, Biul. Wojsk. Akad. Tech.; 35, No. 11 (1986) 97.
- 244 J. Błądek, J. Chromatogr., 405 (1987) 203.
- 245 J. Błądek, J. Chromatogr., 437 (1988) 131.
- 246 J. Błądek and Z. Witkiewicz, Pol. Pat., 144 560 (1988).
- 247 J. Błądek and J. Zmija, Biul. Wojsk. Akad. Tech., 33, No. 3 (1984) 379.
- 248 Z. Witkiewicz and J. Błądek, J. Chromatogr., 373 (1986) 111.
- 249 Z. Prochazka and L. Starka, J. Chromatogr., 79 (1973) 149.
- 250 K. Shoji and M. Takeda, Kobunshi Ronbunshu, 43 (1986) 243; C.A., 105 (1986) 24890.
- 251 M. S. Vigdergauz, G. V. Dmitrieva, L. A. Onuchak and G. B. Senickaya, *Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Khim.*, (1988) 197.
- 252 V. V. Nesterov, L. D. Turkova, A. A. Shepelevski and B. G. Belenki, Vysokomol. Soedin., 25 (1983) 630.
- 253 A. Ono, Mem. Fac. Educ. Niigata Univ. (Niigata Daigaku Kyoikugakubu Kiyo Shizen Kagaku Hen),26 (1985) 123; C.A., 103 (1985) 93303.
- 254 N.-G. Kuai, S.-Z. Guo, X.-Z. Yang and G.Z. Li, Huandong Eangzhi Gongzueyuan Xuebao, 12 (1986) 87; C.A., 105 (1986) 70525.
- 255 Y.-B. Chen, Huaxue Shijie, 26 (1985) 456; C.A., 104 (1986) 141480.
- 256 G.-Z. Li, Y.-H. He, W. Wang and H. X. Sha, Huadong Huagong Xueyuan Xuebao, (1982) 227; C.A., 98 (1983) 172249.
- 257 Z.-N. Sui and Q.-F. Chen, Fenxi Huaxue, 10 (1982) 564; C.A., 99 (1983) 115254.
- 258 R.-N. Fu, L.-X. Tian, H.-W. Liu, B.-L. Fan and W. Mo, *Huaxue Xuebao*, 42 (1984) 194; C.A., 100 (1984) 150417.

- 259 R.-N. Fu, L.-X. Tian and F.-M. Xia, Sepu, 2 (1985) 143; C.A., 103 (1985) 17187.
- 260 R.-N. Fu, W.-H. Wu and L.-X. Tian, Huaxue Shijie, 6, No. 2 (1984) 81; C.A., 101 (1984) 143210.
- 261 L.-X.Shao, T. Xuan and G.-Z. Li, *Huadong Huagong Xueyuan Xuebao*, (1984) 91; C.A., 101 (1984) 143245.
- 262 R.-N. Fu, W.-H. Wu and G.-Z. Li, Gaodeng Xuexiao Huaxue Xuebao, 5 (1984) 345; C.A., 101 (1984) 162982.
- 263 R.-N. Fu, L.-X. Tian, J.-S. Wang and B.-L. Fan, Huaxue Xuebao, 43 (1985) 195; C.A., 102 (1985) 178457.
- 264 R.-N. Fu, L.-X. Tian, H.-W. Liu and G.-Z. Li. Fenxi Huaxue, 12 (1984) 396; C.A., 101 (1984) 75602.
- 265 Y. Suzuki, H. Koizumi and N.Hirano, Bunseki Kagaku, 34 (1985) 575; C.A., 104 (1986) 45132.
- 266 Y.-B. Chen, Huaxue Shijie, 26 (1985) 456; C.A., 104 (1986) 141480.
- 267 X.-X. Zhou, H. Gong, W.-F. Chen, J.-F. Si and G.-K. Zheng, Wuli Huaxue Xuebao, 2 (1986) 385; C.A., 106 (1987) 24049.
- 268 X.-X. Zhou, H. Gong and G.-K. Zheng, Sepu, 5 (1987) 1.
- 269 S. Sakagami, Kyushu Kogyo Gijutsu Shikensho Hokoku, 34 (1985) 2217; C.A., 103 (1985) 93375.
- 270 H.-C. K. Chang and M. L. Lee, J. Chromatogr. Sci., 26 (1988) 298.
- 271 H.-C. K. Chang and M. L. Lee, J. Chromatogr. Sci., 26 (1988) 360.
- 272 R. J. Laub, Mol. Cryst. Liq. Cryst., 157 (1988) 369.
- 273 H.-C. K. Chang, K. E. Markides, J. S. Bradshaw and M. L. Lee, J. Chromatogr. Sci., 26 (1988) 280.
- 274 I. Melinda, R. Alvarez and J. Coca, Tec. Lab., 11 (1988) 18.